IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA and)))
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION,) Civil Action No. 3:21-cv-00098-RDN
Plaintiffs,) Judge Hon. Robert D. Mariani)
V.)
AMERICAN ZINC RECYCLING CORP.,))
Defendant.)) .)

CONSENT DECREE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	JURISDICTION AND VENUE	6
II.	APPLICABILITY	7
III.	DEFINTIONS	10
IV.	CIVIL PENALTY	18
V.	COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS	21
VI.	APPROVAL OF DELIVERABLES	84
VII.	PERMITTING	86
VIII.	TRAINING	89
IX.	REPORTING REQUIREMENTS	92
X.	STIPULATED PENALTIES	95
XI.	FORCE MAJEURE	
XII.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
XIII.	ACCESS, INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION	114
XIV.	EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS	117
XV.	COSTS	120
XVI.	NOTICES	120
XVII.	EFFECTIVE DATE	122
XVIII.	. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	123
XIX.	MODIFICATION	123
XX.	TERMINATION	124
XXI.	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION	126
	SIGNATORIES/SERVICE	
	. INTEGRATION	
XXIV.	. FINAL JUDGMENT	127
XXV.	26 U.S.C. SECTION 162(F)(2)(A)(II) IDENTIFICATION	128
XXVI.	. APPENDICES	128

WHEREAS, Plaintiff United States of America, on behalf of the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), has filed a Complaint in this action, alleging that Defendant American Zinc Recycling Corp. ("AZR" or "Defendant") violated the Clean Air Act ("CAA"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 *et seq.*, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 *et seq.*, the Clean Water Act ("CWA"), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 *et seq.*, and the Emergency Planning Community Right to Know Act ("EPCRA") 42 U.S.C. §§ 11023 and 11045 at its zinc processing facility located in Palmerton, Pennsylvania.

WHEREAS, Co-Plaintiff Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection ("PADEP") joins in the Complaint, alleging violations of the Pennsylvania Air Pollution Control Act, Act of January 8, 1960, P.L. (1959) 2119, as amended, 35 P.S. §§ 4001- 4106 ("APCA"), the Pennsylvania Clean Streams Law, Act of June 22, 1937, P.L. 1987, as amended, 35 P.S. §§ 691.1-691.1001 ("CSL"), the Pennsylvania Solid Waste Management Act, Act of July 7, 1980, P.L. 380, as amended, 35 P.S. §§ 6018.101-6018.1003 ("SWMA"), Section 1917-A of the Administrative Code of 1929, Act of April 9, 1929, P.L. 177, as amended, 71 P.S. § 510-17, and the rules and regulations promulgated under those statutes;

WHEREAS, the Complaint alleges that AZR violated the CAA and AZR's

Title V Permit, issued pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 7661-7661(f), 40 C.F.R. Part 70 and the Pennsylvania Title V Program (25 Pa. Code Subchapter G §§ 127.501-127.543 and §§ 127.401-464), the Pennsylvania State Implementation Plan ("SIP") at 40 C.F.R. § 52.2020, and a 2004 Plan Approval issued by PADEP on September 24, 2004 (Plan Approval No. 13-308-104) pursuant to the federally approved Pennsylvania SIP;

WHEREAS, the Complaint also alleges that AZR violated Section 3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a) and (g), and applicable regulations promulgated thereunder and the terms of its State-issued RCRA Permit;

WHEREAS, the Complaint alleges that AZR violated the terms of its National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") Permit issued by PADEP pursuant to Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342; that AZR discharged from Outfalls 004 and 005 into Aquashicola Creek in violation of the Facility's NPDES Permit and the CWA; and that AZR failed to comply with certain Spill Prevention, Control and Countermeasure ("SPCC") Regulations promulgated pursuant to Section 311(j) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(j);

WHEREAS, Plaintiff United States also alleges that AZR violated EPCRA Section 313, and the regulations promulgated thereunder;

WHEREAS, the United States, PADEP, and Horsehead Industries, Inc. are parties to a Consent Decree entered by the United States District Court for the

Middle District of Pennsylvania in Civil Action No. 1:CV-92-008 on November 13, 1995 (the "1995 Consent Decree"), governing AZR's industrial facility in Palmerton, Pennsylvania, and AZR subsequently assumed the responsibilities of Horsehead Industries, Inc. under the 1995 Consent Decree;

WHEREAS, the United States and PADEP allege that AZR has violated certain provisions of the 1995 Consent Decree;

WHEREAS, the parties intend for this Consent Decree to replace and supersede the 1995 Consent Decree and intend to seek termination of the 1995 Consent Decree, but the termination of the 1995 Consent Decree would not take effect unless and until this Consent Decree has been entered by the Court;

WHEREAS, EPA issued to AZR a Notice of Violation/Notice of Noncompliance, dated April 24, 2017, asserting that AZR's operations at the Palmerton Facility resulted in non-compliance with certain requirements of the: (i) CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 *et seq.*, and corresponding federal regulations; (ii) the Pennsylvania APCA, 35 P.S. § 4001 *et seq.*, and corresponding Pennsylvania regulations; and (iii) the Title V air quality operating permit issued for the Facility;

WHEREAS, by entering into this Consent Decree Defendant does not admit that it violated any statutory, regulatory, or permit requirement or requirements applicable under the 1995 Consent Decree or that it is liable for civil penalties and injunctive relief, including as alleged in the Complaint;

WHEREAS, the Parties recognize, and the Court by entering this Consent Decree finds, that this Consent Decree has been negotiated by the Parties in good faith and will avoid litigation among the Parties and that this Consent Decree is fair, reasonable, and in the public interest;

NOW, THEREFORE, before the taking of any testimony, without the adjudication or admission of any issue of fact or law except as provided in Sections I and II of this Consent Decree, with the consent of the Parties, IT IS HEREBY ADJUDGED, ORDERED, AND DECREED as follows:

I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 1. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355, and Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, 1319(b), 1321(b)(7)(E), Section 1423(b) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. § 300h-2(b), and Section 325 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045, and over the Parties.
- 2. Venue lies in this District pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, Section 1423(b) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. § 300h-2(b), Section 325 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045, and 28 U.S.C. §§1391(b) and 1395(a), because the violations alleged in the Complaint are alleged to have

occurred in, and Defendant conducts business in, this judicial district. For purposes of this Decree, or any action to enforce this Decree, Defendant consents to the Court's jurisdiction over this Decree, this action and Defendant and consents to venue in this judicial district.

3. For purposes of this Consent Decree, Defendant agrees that the Complaint states claims upon which relief may be granted pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), Section 301 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1311, Section 1423(a) and (b) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300h-2(a) and (b), and Section 325 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045.

II. APPLICABILITY

- 4. The obligations of this Consent Decree apply to and are binding upon the United States and PADEP, and upon the Defendant and any successors, assigns, or other entities or persons otherwise bound by law.
- 5. No transfer of ownership or operation of the Facility, whether in compliance with the procedures of this Paragraph or otherwise, shall relieve Defendant of its obligation to ensure that the terms of the Decree are implemented unless: (a) the transferee agrees in writing to undertake the obligations of this Decree and to be substituted for the Defendant as a Party under the Decree and thus be bound by the terms thereof; and (b) the United States, after consultation

with PADEP, consents to relieve Defendant of its obligations or this Court enters a modification to this Consent Decree through the process set forth in Paragraphs 6 and 7, below. At least thirty (30) Days prior to such transfer, Defendant shall provide a copy of this Consent Decree to the proposed transferee, and shall simultaneously provide written notice of the prospective transfer, together with a copy of the proposed written agreement, to EPA Region 3, the United States Attorney for the Middle District of Pennsylvania, the United States Department of Justice, and PADEP, in accordance with Section XVI of this Decree (Notices). Defendant may assert that the written agreement contains confidential business information pursuant to 40 C.F.R. Part 2. Any such assertion shall comply with the requirements and procedures of 40 C.F.R. Part 2. Any attempt to transfer ownership or operation of the Facilities without complying with this Paragraph 5 constitutes a violation of this Decree.

6. After the submission of the notice required by Paragraph 5, above, Defendant may request in writing that the United States and PADEP agree to filing of a joint motion to modify this Consent Decree to substitute the transferee for Defendant as the Party responsible for complying with all or some of the terms and conditions of this Consent Decree. The United States and PADEP may consent to the joint motion or they shall notify Defendant in writing that the United States and PADEP do not agree to the filing of the joint motion as requested.

- 7. If the United States and PADEP do not agree to filing of the joint motion within ninety (90) Days of receipt of Defendant's request pursuant to Paragraph 6, above, then Defendant and the transferee may file, without the agreement of the United States and PADEP, a motion seeking modification of this Consent Decree to substitute the transferee for the Defendant as the party responsible for complying with some or all obligations of this Consent Decree.

 The United States and PADEP may oppose the motion on grounds that: (a) the transferee lacks the financial or technical ability to assume the obligations of the Decree; (b) the proposed modification fails to transfer effectively the Consent Decree's obligations to the transferee; or (c) for any other good cause.
- 8. Defendant shall provide an electronic or hard copy of this Consent Decree to its officers, employees, contractors, and agents whose duties might reasonably include compliance with any provision of this Decree. In addition, Defendant shall ensure that any contractors retained to perform work required under this Consent Decree are notified in writing of this Consent Decree and the specific requirements of this Consent Decree that fall within their duties.

 Defendant shall condition any such contract upon performance of the work in conformity with the terms of this Consent Decree, and upon the contractor providing training of the contractor's personnel relating to the individual's responsibilities in accordance with this Consent Decree. Copies of this Consent

Decree need not be provided to firms that are retained solely to supply materials or equipment to Defendant to satisfy requirements of this Consent Decree.

9. In any action to enforce this Consent Decree, Defendant shall not raise as a defense the failure by any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, or contractors to take any actions necessary to comply with the provisions of this Consent Decree.

III. DEFINITIONS

10. Terms used in this Consent Decree that are defined in the CAA, RCRA, CWA, EPCRA, SDWA and Pennsylvania APCA, SWMA and CSL, or in regulations promulgated pursuant to these statutes, shall have the meanings assigned to them in the statutes or such regulations, unless otherwise provided in this Consent Decree. Whenever the terms set forth below are used in this Consent Decree, the following definitions shall apply:

"1995 Consent Decree" shall mean the consent decree entered on November 13, 1995, in *United States and PADEP v. Horsehead Resource*Development Company, Inc. and Horsehead Industries, Inc., Civil Action No. 92-cv-0008 (M.D. Pa.);

"Baghouse" shall mean an air pollution control device, other than a "Product Collector" as that term is used in the Facility's Title V Permit, that

utilizes fabric filtration to remove particles from the gas stream by depositing the particles on fabric material;

"Bypass" shall mean the intentional diversion of waste streams from any portion of a treatment facility as provided in 40 C.F.R. §122.41(m);

"Calcining" shall mean the heat distillation process that further increases the zinc content of the Waelz Oxide (WOx) (also known as CZO), by processing it to zinc calcine and Lead Concentrate (also known as Lead Chloride);

"Calcining Feed Material" or "Calcine Feed Material" shall mean any material, other than CZO, processed during Calcining to produce zinc calcine and Lead Concentrate;

"Complaint" shall mean the complaint filed by the United States and PADEP in this action;

"Consent Decree" or "Decree" shall mean this Decree and all appendices attached hereto listed in Section XXVI;

"Contact Cooling Water" shall mean any water that comes into contact with any raw material, intermediate material, final product, co-product, by-product, or solid waste, for the purposes of cooling or quenching;

"Containment Building Requirements" shall mean the containment building requirements and standards set forth in 25 Pa. Code § 264a.1, which incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. Part 264 Subpart DD;

"Continuous Data Collection" or "Continuous Monitoring" shall mean monitoring or recording at the frequency described in, and in accordance with, Paragraph 80 of this Consent Decree.

"Continuous Opacity Monitoring Systems" or COMS mean the total system and all equipment required for the determination of opacity of emissions, which meets the minimum requirements of Performance Specification 1 of 40 C.F.R. Part 60 or any future revision or replacement thereof;

"Crude Zinc Oxide" or "CZO" (also known as Waelz Oxide or WOx) shall mean material that contains zinc and may contain other materials such as lead, cadmium and/or other metals, and resulting from Waelzing of Electric Arc Furnace Dust and/or other materials;

"Date of Lodging" shall mean the date this Consent Decree is lodged with the Court for public comment;

"Day" shall mean a calendar day unless expressly stated to be a business day. In computing any period of time under this Consent Decree, where the last Day would fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the period shall run until the close of business of the next business day;

"Defendant" shall mean American Zinc Recycling Corporation;

"EPA" shall mean the United States Environmental Protection Agency and any of its successor departments or agencies; "Effective Date" shall have the definition provided in Section XVII;

"Electric Arc Furnace Dust" or "EAF Dust" shall mean emission control dust/sludge from the primary production of steel in electric furnaces;

"Emissions Test," "Emissions Testing," or "Stack Test" shall mean any performance testing conducted for the purposes of determining and demonstrating compliance, and in accordance with Section V.C. of this Consent Decree (Clean Air Act Compliance Requirements);

"Federal Hazardous Waste Requirements" or "Federal HW Requirements" shall mean 1) the EPA authorized Pennsylvania hazardous waste management program (effective January 30, 1986 (51 Fed. Reg. 1791 (January 15, 1986)), and reauthorized, see 65 Fed. Reg. 57734 (September 26, 2000), 69 Fed. Reg. 2674 (January 20, 2004) and 74 Fed. Reg. 19453 (April 29, 2009)); 2) and any requirements imposed under any Pennsylvania hazardous waste management program subsequently authorized by EPA pursuant to Section 3006 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6926; and/or 3) the federal hazardous waste regulations codified at 40 C.F.R. Parts 260 through 270 which are directly applicable in Pennsylvania;

"Feed Rate" shall mean the rate of input material to any process device, expressed in mass per unit time;

"Fugitive Dust Control Plan" shall mean the Palmerton Facility Fugitive

Dust Control Plan attached to this Consent Decree as Appendix A;

"Iron Rich Material" or "IRM" shall mean iron rich slag material resulting from the processing of Electric Arc Furnace Dust and/or other materials in Waelzing kilns or similar units;

"Iron-Rich Material Pad" or "IRM Pad" shall mean the area depicted in the site map attached hereto as Appendix B;

"Kiln" shall mean the process device where the heat distillation of the input materials, such as pelletized EAF dust and WOx (also known as CZO), occurs;

"Lead Concentrate" (also known as "Lead Chloride") shall mean the lead-containing material resulting from Calcining of Crude Zinc Oxide and/or other Calcine Feed Material in Calcining kilns or similar units and containing cadmium and chloride compounds;

"Lime Bunker" shall mean the three-sided, roofed structure to the east of Building 608 at the Facility as depicted in the site map attached hereto as Appendix B;

"NPDES" means the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination

System as established under Section 402 of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342, and includes any state program that has received authority to implement the program pursuant to Section 402(b) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b);

"NPDES Permit" shall mean the Permit for the Palmerton Facility

most recently issued to Defendant by PADEP, PA0064378, on June 2, 2011, and administratively extended in 2016, as may be renewed or amended;

"Non-Contact Cooling Water" shall mean water used to reduce temperature which does not come into direct contact with any raw material, intermediate material, product, byproduct, or waste;

"PaDEP" or "PADEP" shall mean the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection;

"PAHWMR" shall mean the Pennsylvania Hazardous Waste

Management Regulations, codified at 25 Pa. Code Article VII (entitled Hazardous

Waste Management);

"Palmerton Facility" or "Facility" shall mean the zinc processing

Facility operated by AZR and located in Palmerton, PA, as depicted in Appendix B hereto;

"Palmerton Storage Facility" shall mean the areas listed as comprising the Palmerton Storage Facility in the Facility's RCRA Permit, as may be renewed or amended;

"Paragraph" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by an Arabic numeral;

"Parties" shall mean the United States, PADEP, and the Defendant; "Particulate Matter" shall mean a complex mixture of particles

and liquid droplets that get into the air and that includes both filterable and condensable particulates;

"Process Water" shall mean any water utilized in the Palmerton Facility's industrial processes, Contact Cooling Water, water utilized for pelletizing EAF Dust, and truck wash water;

"Product Collector" shall mean an air pollution control device used by AZR to collect particles that are considered product by AZR. The Facility's March 25, 2014 Title V Permit identifies four (4) Product Collectors, labeled as C04, C05, C07, C16;

"Professional Engineer" shall mean a Pennsylvania licensed Professional Engineer;

"RCRA Permit" shall mean Hazardous Waste Treatment, Storage and/or Disposal Facility Permit, No. PAD002395887, most recently issued by PADEP to Defendant on October 10, 2006, and subsequently administratively extended, as may be renewed or amended;

"Section" shall mean a portion of this Decree identified by a Roman numeral;

"Settling Basins" shall mean the units as depicted in the site map attached hereto as Appendix B;

"Significant Spills and Leaks" shall include, but are not limited to, releases of oil or hazardous substances in excess of quantities that are reportable under CWA Section 311 (see 40 CFR 110.6 and 40 CFR 117.21) or Section 102 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), 42 U.S.C. § 9602;

"State" shall mean the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania;

"Supersack" shall mean a woven polypropylene or polyester based, lined container holding forty to sixty cubic feet of material and meeting the standards of 25 Pa. Code Chapter 264a, Subchapter I;

"Title V Permit" shall mean the source or Facility Operating Permit No. 13-00001, most recently issued by PADEP to Defendant on March 25, 2014, and subsequently administratively extended, as may be renewed or amended pursuant to Title V of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7661 – 7661f;

"UIC" shall mean underground injection control under the SDWA;

"UICCP" shall mean the Underground Injection Control Closure Plan;

"UIC Class IV well" shall have the meaning provided in 40 C.F.R.

§ 144.6(d);

"United States" shall mean the United States of America, acting on behalf of EPA;

"Upkiln Temperature" shall mean the temperature in degrees Centigrade monitored in the charge bed, near the beginning of the zinc fuming zone in the Waelz kiln;

"Waelzing" shall mean the heat distillation process that increases the zinc content of the zinc-bearing feed materials, such as EAF Dust and/or ZRM by processing them to Waelz Oxide ("WOx") (also known as CZO) and IRM;

"Zinc-Rich Material" or "ZRM" shall mean a Waelzing feedstock that contains zinc, lead, and/or cadmium and is a characteristic hazardous waste bearing waste codes D006 and D008.

IV. <u>CIVIL PENALTY</u>

- 11. By no later than thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date, Defendant shall pay the sum of three million, three hundred thousand dollars (\$3,300,000) as a civil penalty. The civil penalty shall be divided evenly between and paid to the United States and PADEP as follows: \$1,650,000.00 to the United States of which \$48,000.00 will be deposited in the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund pursuant to Section 311(s) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(s) and 26 U.S.C. § 9609(b)(8); and \$1,650,000.00 to PADEP.
- 12. Defendant shall pay the civil penalty due to the United States by FedWire Electronic Funds Transfer ("EFT") to the U.S. Department of Justice

account, in accordance with instructions provided to Defendant by the Financial Litigation Unit ("FLU") of the United States Attorney's Office for the Middle District of Pennsylvania after the Effective Date. The payment instructions provided by the FLU will include a Consolidated Debt Collection System ("CDCS") number, which Defendant shall use to identify all payments required to be made in accordance with this Consent Decree. The FLU will provide the payment instructions to:

- Name: R. Bruce Morgan, V.P. HR, EH&S
- Address: 3000 GSK Drive, Suite 201, Moon Township, Pennsylvania 15108
- Phone number: (724) 773-2202
- Email address: bmorgan@azr.com
- 13. Defendant may change the individual to receive payment instructions on its behalf by providing written notice of such change to the United States and EPA in accordance with Section XVI (Notices).
- 14. At the time of payment, Defendant shall send notice that payment has been made: (i) to EPA via email at cinwd_acctsreceivable@epa.gov or via regular mail at EPA Cincinnati Finance Office, 26 W. Martin Luther King Drive, Cincinnati, Ohio 45268; and (ii) to the United States via email or regular mail in accordance with Section XVI (Notices); and (iii) to EPA in accordance with Section XVI (Notices). Such notice shall state that the payment is for the civil penalty owed pursuant to the Consent Decree in

United States and Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Department of
Environmental Protection v. American Zinc Recycling Corp. and shall
reference the civil action number, CDCS Number, and DOJ case number 9011-3-11529/1.

- 15. Defendant shall not deduct any penalties paid under this Decree pursuant to this Section or Section X (Stipulated Penalties) in calculating its federal, State, or local income tax.
- 16. If any portion of the civil penalty is not paid when due, Defendant shall pay interest accruing from the Effective Date through the date of payment at the rate specified in 28 U.S.C. § 1961. Any payment of interest made pursuant to this Paragraph 16 shall be in addition to any stipulated penalty due under Section X (Stipulated Penalties) of this Consent Decree.
- 17. Payments required to be made to PADEP pursuant to the requirements of this Consent Decree shall be made by corporate check or similar instrument as follows:

a. Air Quality Program

A payment of \$726,000.00 shall be made payable to the "Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Clean Air Fund," pursuant to 35 P.S. § 4009.1, and sent to Air Quality Program Manager, Department of Environmental Protection, Air Quality Program, 2 Public Square, Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915.

b. Waste Management Program

A payment of \$643,500.00 shall be made payable to the "Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Solid Waste Abatement Fund," pursuant to 35 P.S. § 6018.701, and sent to Waste Management Program Manager, Department of Environmental Protection, Waste Management Program, 2 Public Square, Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915.

c. Clean Water Program

A payment of \$280,500.00 shall be made payable to the "Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Clean Water Fund," pursuant to 35 P.S. § 691.8, and sent to Clean Water Program Manager, Department of Environmental Protection, Clean Water Program, 2 Public Square, Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915.

V. <u>COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS</u>

A. Clean Water Act Compliance Requirements

1. Investigation

18. Investigation of Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling

Water Systems. By no later than thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date,

AZR shall submit to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables), a scope of work ("SOW") for the investigation of the stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water systems at the Palmerton Facility, as described in this Paragraph 18. The SOW shall

include the following:

- a. Schedule for implementation of the SOW;
- b. A plan for the use of dye testing, smoke testing, cameras, or similar methods as necessary to generate a complete and accurate map of the Facility's stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water systems leading to Outfall 004 and Outfall 005, including any connections between these systems. If the investigations identify any outfall not previously identified in the NPDES Permit, then the investigation shall also extend to direct observation of the pipes or other conveyances leading to such additional outfall;
- c. An inventory of materials used, stored, or staged at the Facility in all areas exposed to precipitation and stormwater runoff;
- d. An inventory of all sources of stormwater, wastewater, ground water, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water from the Facility, whether treated or untreated, contributing to Outfall 004 and Outfall 005; and
- e. Identification of any stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water which does not discharge at Outfall 004 or Outfall 005, including, but not limited to, any stormwater runoff into the railroad bed immediately north of the Kilns, stormwater runoff that infiltrates into French drains, or stormwater runoff that is discharged through other outfalls.
- 19. Within seven (7) Days of receipt of EPA's written approval of the SOW,

 AZR shall commence implementation of the SOW in accordance with the

 EPA-approved schedule.
- 20. <u>Modification of SOW</u>: If, following EPA approval of the SOW, new information is discovered or developed, AZR shall notify EPA and PADEP of the new information within ten (10) Days of such discovery or

development. In the event that EPA and AZR agree that the new information discovered or developed requires a change to the EPA-approved SOW, AZR shall submit, within thirty (30) Days of reaching such agreement in writing (or such other timeframe as may be approved in writing by EPA), a proposed modification of the SOW, or a specific provision in the SOW, to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables). Any disagreement as to whether the EPA-approved SOW needs modification shall be the subject of dispute resolution. Any modification request shall be accompanied by all supporting data and information relied upon in the modified proposal and, if a date in a previously approved schedule would be affected by the proposed modification, the proposal must set forth a new schedule for written approval.

- 21. Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation

 Report. Within sixty (60) Days of completing the work identified in the approved SOW in accordance with the approved schedule, AZR shall submit a report to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables). The Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation Report shall contain:
 - a. a summary of the results of the stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water systems investigation required by Paragraph 18.b. and e. of this Consent Decree;

- b. The investigation's methods and data;
- c. A detailed and accurate scaled map (or series of maps at the same scale) of the Facility's stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water systems. Information displayed on this map (or maps) shall include the following (active or inactive): pipes, swales, sluices, other above or below-ground conveyances such as hoses or tunnels, outfalls, discharge points, manholes, basins, sumps (whether open, closed, or plugged), inlets, above-ground or below-ground tanks, pumps, lift stations, treatment units (e.g. settling tanks, clarifiers, flocculation tanks, screens, pH adjustment or chemical additive point), overflows, bypasses, weirs, meters (for the measurement or recording of water volume, flow, pH, temperature, turbidity, or other water quality parameters), supply wells, injection wells, French drains, infiltration galleries or trenches, hydrants, valves, sampling points, any connections between the Palmerton Facility's stormwater systems, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water systems, any connections of the Palmerton Facility's stormwater, Process Water, or Non-Contact Cooling Water systems with sanitary sewer systems, other storm sewer systems, or public drinking water systems, stormwater flow paths, and shall include the locations of the items identified in the inventories developed pursuant to Paragraphs 18.c. and d., above;
- d. The inventory of materials used, stored, or staged at the Facility in all areas exposed to precipitation and stormwater runoff as required by Paragraph 18.c. of this Consent Decree;
- e. The inventory of all contributing sources of effluent to outfalls 004 and 005, as required Paragraph 18.d. of this Consent Decree;
- f. A proposal for corrective measures, including a schedule for implementation, to eliminate or re-direct effluents from Process Water, Non-Contact Cooling Water, or stormwater discharges from industrial activity that contribute to outfall 004, or any other outfall located at the Palmerton Facility, that have been found to bypass the Palmerton Facility's treatment works, or to reconfigure any existing

- piping or valve configuration that would enable the bypass of such discharge from the Palmerton Facility's treatment works; and
- g. A proposal for corrective measures to manage, divert, or treat stormwater from the Kiln areas which is contaminated by contact with Kiln brick, Kiln rubble, or other process materials or wastes, that flows into the railroad bed immediately north of the Kilns.
- 22. Upon receipt of EPA's written approval of the Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation Report, AZR shall commence implementation of the corrective measures in accordance with the schedule identified in the Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation Report.
- 23. Representative Stormwater Sampling Plan. Within seven (7) Days of the Effective Date, AZR shall submit to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables), a plan for representative sampling of stormwater discharges from the Palmerton Facility ("Representative Sampling Plan"). The Representative Sampling Plan shall provide for sampling to be conducted quarterly under the Representative Sampling Plan. The Representative Sampling Plan shall include the following:
 - a. Specified representative sampling locations for each stormwater outfall;
 - b. The procedure to collect grab samples of stormwater discharges at outfalls. The written procedure shall provide that grab samples shall

be collected from discharges resulting from a storm event that is equal to or greater than 0.1 inch in magnitude and that occurs at least 72 hours from the previously measurable (greater than 0.1 inch rainfall) storm event. The 72-hour storm interval is waived when the preceding storm did not yield a measurable discharge, or if the Facility is able to document that a less than 72-hour interval is representative for local storm events during the sample period. All grab samples shall be taken within the first 30 minutes of a discharge, unless the Facility determines that this is not practicable (including for safety reasons), in which case grab samples must be collected as soon as practicable after the first 30 minutes of a discharge and AZR shall document why it was not practicable to collect samples within the first 30 minutes of any discharge;

- c. A procedure to ensure prompt analysis of grab samples, by using a laboratory certified by PADEP for wastewater analyses, using approved methods in 40 C.F.R. Part 136, for total zinc, total lead, and total cadmium, Total Suspended Solids, and Oil and Grease. The procedure shall also provide for the pH of the stormwater discharge to be measured in the field, using an approved method from 40 CFR Part 136.
- 24. AZR shall commence implementation of the Representative Sampling Plan within ten (10) Days of receipt of EPA's written approval pursuant to Section VI of this Consent Decree (Approval of Deliverables).

2. CWA Stormwater Compliance Requirements

25. <u>Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan</u>. Within sixty (60) days of the Date of Lodging, AZR shall implement the Palmerton Facility's Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), attached hereto as Appendix C, until

- such time as EPA approves an updated SWPPP developed in accordance with Paragraph 26.
- 26. No later than sixty (60) Days from the date upon which EPA has approved the Stormwater Process Water and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation Report, AZR shall submit an updated SWPPP to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables). Information developed and reported through the Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation Report shall be used to complete/update the SWPPP. The updated SWPPP shall include the following elements:
 - a. A Facility description and contact information, including a detailed site map with the following components:
 - i. Boundaries of the property and the size of the property in acres;
 - ii. Location and extent of significant structures and impervious surfaces;
 - iii. Directions of stormwater flow (use arrows);
 - iv. Locations of all stormwater control measures;
 - v. Locations of all receiving waters, including wetlands, in the immediate vicinity of your Facility with their classification listed in PA Code Title 25, Chapter 93. Indicate which waterbodies are listed as impaired, including the pollutants impairing those waters;
 - vi. Locations of all stormwater collection structures and conveyances, including catch-basins, ditches, pipes, swales and impoundments;

- vii. Locations of potential pollutant sources;
- viii. Locations where significant spills or leaks have occurred or have the potential to occur; and enhanced control, containment, or treatment facilities on site;
 - ix. Locations of all representative stormwater monitoring and sampling points;
 - x. Locations of stormwater inlets, catch basins, and discharge points, with a unique identification code for each discharge point (e.g., Discharge points 1, 2, 3, etc.), and an approximate outline of the areas draining to each discharge point;
 - xi. Locations of the following activities where such activities are exposed to precipitation:
 - 1. Fueling stations;
 - 2. vehicle and equipment maintenance and/or cleaning areas;
 - 3. loading/unloading areas;
 - 4. locations used for the treatment, storage or disposal of wastes;
 - 5. liquid storage tanks;
 - 6. processing and storage areas;
 - 7. immediate access roads and all existing rail lines;
 - 8. transfer areas for substances in bulk;
 - 9. machinery; and

- 10. locations and sources of run-on to the Palmerton Facility from adjacent property that contains significant quantities of pollutants.
- b. AZR shall identify the staff members, by name or title, that comprise the Palmerton Facility's stormwater pollution prevention team, as well as their individual responsibilities. The Palmerton Facility stormwater pollution prevention team is responsible for overseeing development of the SWPPP, any modifications to the SWPPP, implementing and maintaining control measures, and taking corrective actions when required. Each member of the stormwater pollution prevention team must have ready access to either an electronic or paper copy of applicable portions of the most updated copy of the SWPPP, and/or other relevant information that must be kept with the SWPPP;
- c. AZR shall ensure that the SWPPP identifies the industrial activities exposed to stormwater; identifies pollutants or pollutant constituents associated with each identified activity; identifies areas when potential spills and leaks could occur and corresponding outfalls that would be affected; documents all significant spills and/or leaks of oil and/or toxic or hazardous substances that actually occurred at exposed areas, or that drained to a stormwater conveyance in the past three (3) years; documents evaluation for non-stormwater discharges; documents location of any salt storage piles; and, summarizes all stormwater discharge sampling data;
- d. AZR shall ensure that the updated SWPPP describes all stormwater control measures required by Paragraphs 29 33 of this Consent Decree, and documents the location and type of control measures specifically chosen and/or designed for the Palmerton Facility;
- e. AZR shall ensure that the SWPPP includes schedules and procedures for the following:
 - i. maintaining good housekeeping practices;
 - ii. preventative maintenance including regular inspections, testing, maintenance and repair of all control measures;

- iii. spill prevention and response;
- iv. erosion and sediment controls; and
- v. employee training.
- f. AZR shall describe procedures for performing quarterly Facility stormwater inspections and shall submit the quarterly inspection reports with the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124. Quarterly stormwater inspection reports shall include, at a minimum, the following:
 - i. The inspection date and time;
 - ii. The name(s) and signature(s) of the inspector(s);
 - iii. Weather information;
 - iv. All observations relating to the implementation of control measures at the Facility, including: a description of any discharges occurring at the time of the inspection; any previously unidentified discharges from and/or pollutants at the site; any evidence of, or the potential for, pollutants entering the drainage system; observations regarding the physical condition of and around all outfalls, including any flow dissipation devices; and evidence of pollutants in discharges and/or the receiving water;
 - v. Any control measures needing maintenance, repairs, or replacement; and
 - vi. Housekeeping conditions in accordance with Paragraph 33 of this Consent Decree.
- g. AZR shall describe procedures for conducting quarterly visual monitoring of stormwater discharges and shall submit the results of the quarterly visual monitoring in reports submitted with the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124. AZR may use a grab sample collected for the purpose of quarterly visual monitoring for its

- quarterly representative stormwater sample, as required by Paragraph 23 of this Consent Decree. Quarterly visual monitoring of stormwater discharges shall include, at a minimum:
- i. Quarterly, a grab sample in a clean, colorless glass or plastic container, and collected within the first 30 minutes of an actual discharge from a storm event and examined in a well-lit area. If it is not possible to collect the sample within the first 30 minutes of discharge, the sample must be collected as soon as practicable after the first 30 minutes and AZR shall document why it was not practicable to take the sample within the first 30 minutes. In the case of snowmelt, samples must be taken during a period with a measurable discharge from the site;
- ii. For storm events, quarterly visual monitoring shall be for discharges that occur at least 72 hours (three Days) from the previous discharge. The 72-hour (three-Day) storm interval does not apply if AZR documents that less than a 72-hour (three-Day) interval is representative for local storm events during the sampling period; and
- iii. AZR shall visually inspect or observe the sample for the following water quality characteristics: Color; Odor; Clarity (diminished); Floating solids; Settled solids; Suspended solids; Foam; Oil sheen; and other obvious indicators of stormwater pollution, and report the results of quarterly visual monitoring with the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree.
- 27. Upon receipt of EPA's written approval, AZR shall commence implementation of the updated SWPPP.

3. Stormwater Control Measures

28. No later than seven (7) Days after receipt of EPA's written approval of the updated SWPPP pursuant to Paragraph 26, above, AZR shall commence

- implementation of the measures required by Paragraphs 29-33 of this Consent Decree.
- 29. AZR shall select, design, install and implement control measures to minimize pollutant discharges. The selection, design, installation and implementation of these control measures shall be in accordance with good engineering practices and include the actions described in Paragraphs 30-33, below.
- 30. AZR shall design and implement control measures and infrastructure to ensure stormwater is not contaminated with hazardous waste (e.g., Kiln brick or Kiln rubble materials) or Process Water (e.g., Contact Cooling Water).
- 31. AZR shall collect and contain all Contact Cooling Water within a containment structure designed to capture Contact Cooling Water and to prevent the deposition or flow of Contact Cooling Water outside of the containment structure and to ensure that Contact Cooling Water is not allowed to mix with stormwater runoff.
- 32. Defendant shall maintain and operate all stormwater control measures in effective operating condition. This includes but is not limited to: performing inspections and preventive maintenance of stormwater drainage, stormwater source controls and treatment systems; diligently maintaining non-structural

- controls; and cleaning catch basins and keeping the debris surface at least six inches below the lowest outlet pipe.
- 33. Defendant shall control runoff from spills/leaks, waste disposal, waste storage, and sediment by diverting, reusing, containing, or otherwise reducing stormwater runoff to minimize pollutants in discharges, and document such in a spill response plan.
- 34. Within thirty (30) Days of EPA's approval of the Stormwater, Process

 Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation Report, AZR shall submit to EPA and PADEP a report of the results of AZR's investigation, required by Paragraph 18.e., of any stormwater runoff into the railroad bed immediately north of the Kilns and any stormwater runoff that infiltrates into French drains ("Infiltration Investigation Report"). AZR shall also include within the Infiltration Investigation Report AZR's analysis, in accordance with applicable UIC regulations, of the possible presence of an unauthorized UIC well at the location designated on the Facility map in Appendix B to this Consent Decree.
- 35. In the event that AZR's infiltration investigation analysis reveals that an unauthorized UIC well is present at the referenced location, then AZR shall include within the Infiltration Investigation Report a plan, including a proposed schedule, for permitting, plugging, or otherwise closing the

unauthorized UIC well in accordance with applicable federal regulations ("UIC Management Plan"). EPA will review and approve, or disapprove, the UIC Management Plan. Notwithstanding Section VI of this Consent Decree (Approval of Deliverables), AZR shall complete any required revisions to a disapproved UIC Management Plan within fourteen (14) Days of AZR's receipt of written notice that the UIC Management Plan has been disapproved. Within ten (10) Days after receipt of EPA's written approval of the UIC Management Plan, AZR shall commence implementation of the UIC Management Plan in accordance with the approved schedule.

- 36. Within thirty (30) Days of completion of implementation of the UIC Management Plan, AZR shall submit to EPA a Final UIC Report, with documentation of all activity performed in accordance with the UIC Management Plan. To the extent that the UIC Management Plan provides for closure of the UIC well, the Final UIC Report shall include a narrative statement describing the closure procedures, photographic documentation of all closure activities, and confirmatory sample results and any waste manifests of the closure of the injection well in a manner that protects underground sources of drinking water and complies with all applicable laws and regulations.
- 37. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section VI of this Consent Decree

- (Approval of Deliverables), in the event that EPA disapproves the Final UIC Report, AZR shall complete any required revisions and re-submit the Final UIC Report within fourteen (14) Days of receipt of notice that EPA has disapproved the Final UIC Report.
- 38. In the event that AZR's analysis, in accordance with applicable federal regulations, presented within the Infiltration Investigation Report concludes that no unauthorized UIC well is present at the referenced location, and in the further event that EPA disagrees with that conclusion, then within fourteen (14) Days of receipt of written notice that EPA disagrees with AZR's conclusion presented in the Infiltration Investigation Report that no unauthorized UIC well is present at the referenced location, AZR shall either submit to EPA the UIC Management Plan for such unauthorized UIC well or shall proceed pursuant to Section XII (Dispute Resolution) of this Consent Decree.

4. CWA SPCC Compliance Requirements

39. Within thirty (30) Days of the Effective Date, in accordance with Section IX (Reporting Requirements) and Section XVI (Notices) of the Consent Decree, AZR shall provide documentation to EPA that AZR has revised and/or corrected the Palmerton Facility's Integrated Preparedness, Prevention, and Contingency Plan (ICP) in compliance with the requirements under 40

C.F.R. Part 112, and as required by this Paragraph 39. Such documentation shall include the corrected text from the ICP, as well as the complete ICP plan, relevant calculations, invoices, photos and such other information as reasonably necessary for EPA to determine whether the ICP deficiencies have been corrected, along with the date the ICP was corrected. At a minimum, the revised plan shall contain the elements required by 40 C.F.R. §§ 112.3, 112.7 and 112.8 (as applicable) with particular attention to the following:

- a. information demonstrating that the pipe on Tank 002A has been addressed;
- b. information on the type of oil in each container and its storage capacity;
- c. information concerning the alternative to general secondary containment as required for oil-filled equipment;
- d. information on disposal steps for oil-contaminated media;
- e. provide a complete description and demonstration of implementation requirements pertaining to Facility drainage;
- f. provide a complete description and demonstration of implementation requirements pertaining to Facility Transfer Operations, Pumping, and In-Plant Processes;
- g. provide a complete description and demonstrate implementation requirements pertaining to Bulk Storage Containers;
- h. provide evidence of annual training; and,

i. provide evidence of inspections.

B. RCRA Compliance Requirements

1. General Facility RCRA Management Requirements

- 40. AZR shall not introduce any hazardous wastes into the Waelzing or Calcining Kilns, unless the hazardous waste complies with all of the requirements as set forth at 40 C.F.R. § 266.100(c)-(d) or AZR complies with the applicable requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 266, Subpart H.
- 41. Within thirty (30) Days of the Effective Date, all Lead Concentrate stored or originating at the Palmerton Facility shall be managed in accordance with all of the PAHWMR and the Federal HW Requirements applicable to hazardous waste bearing the EPA hazardous waste numbers D006, D008, K061 and any other applicable waste codes, provided that this Paragraph 41 shall not be construed as an admission or determination as to the status of Lead Concentrate as a solid or hazardous waste;
- 42. In addition to Paragraph 41 above, AZR shall manage Lead Concentrate in the following manner:
 - a. AZR shall not accept at the Palmerton Facility any Lead Concentrate originating at other facilities;
 - b. AZR shall only store Lead Concentrate at the Palmerton Facility for up to ninety (90) Days. Lead Concentrate shall be stored in Supersacks or other properly maintained containers in accordance

- with the requirements of 25 Pa. Code § 264a, Subchapter I and the analogous provisions of the Federal Hazardous Waste Requirements;
- c. AZR shall only store Lead Concentrate in accordance with the aisle space requirements depicted in the diagram attached hereto as Appendix D; and
- d. AZR shall only store Lead Concentrate in the buildings known at the Facility as the "Cathedral" (Building 864), the "Barium" (Building 710), the "Warehouse" (Buildings 603/604), the "Powders" (Building 611), the "Lithopone" (Building 719) and the "Lead Chloride Packing" (Building 616/672) for a period of no greater than ninety (90) Days provided AZR certifies no later than the Date of Lodging, in the form for certification set forth at 40 C.F.R. § 270.11(d)(1), that Buildings 864, 710, 603/604, 611, 719 and 616/672 meet the requirements for hazardous waste storage set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 264.14-.17 (relating to security, general inspection requirements, general facility standards, personnel training and general requirements for ignitable, reactive or incompatible wastes), 40 C.F.R. § 264 Subpart C (relating to preparedness and prevention) and 40 C.F.R. § 264 Subpart D (relating to contingency plan and emergency procedures) and which are all incorporated by reference by 25 Pa. Code § 264a.1.
- 43. No later than the Date of Lodging, AZR shall cease storing Lead

 Concentrate that has been stored at the Palmerton Facility for greater than

 ninety (90) Days.
- 44. No later than the Date of Lodging, AZR shall cease storing Supersacks of Lead Concentrate outside at the Palmerton Facility.
- 45. The provisions of Paragraphs 41-44 are not intended and shall not have the effect of preventing AZR from managing Lead Concentrate pursuant to any exemption, exclusion, variance, or non-waste determination that may apply

to such material pursuant to the PAHWMR or the Federal HW
Requirements. However, such management shall not relieve the Defendant
of its obligations under Paragraphs 42-44 for the life of the Consent Decree,
regardless of any exemption, exclusion, variance, or non-waste
determination that may apply to Lead Concentrate.

- 46. <u>PD Station</u>. In order to minimize release of hazardous waste to the environment at and from the pressure differential unloading station (PD Station), AZR shall do the following:
 - a. No later than the Date of Lodging, partially enclose the PD station to minimize the possibility of release of hazardous waste to the environment;
 - b. Implement design enhancements and detailed procedures to minimize the risk of release of hazardous waste at the PD Station that will be described in detail in the SOP required by Paragraph 70 of this Consent Decree;
 - c. No later than ten (10) Days after the Effective Date, install a Closed-Circuit Television System (CCTV) camera at the PD Station;
 - d. During any operating shift when pressure differential trucks utilize the PD Station for unloading, the CCTV shall be monitored by a Facility employee or contractor who has been trained in accordance with the training requirements of Section VIII (Training) of this Consent Decree and specifically on the PD Station SOP required by Paragraph 70 of this Consent Decree. This employee or contractor shall be able to communicate immediately with supervisors in the event of a problem, release, or potential release of hazardous waste at or from the PD Station;

- e. No later than ten (10) Days after the Effective Date, install a sensor that will be triggered by pressure differential trucks when approaching the PD Station to unload hazardous waste so that the employee or contractor, specified in Paragraph 46.d., above, is alerted to monitor the truck's unloading activity;
- f. Maintain CCTV recordings of the PD Station for a period of at least forty-five (45) Days from the time each pressure differential truck leaves the Palmerton Facility and make such recordings available to EPA and PADEP upon request; and
- g. With the first and second of the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree, submit, or provide an internet address from which EPA and PADEP may download, video recordings for twenty-six (26) Days from the previous six (6) months of CCTV recordings of the PD Station. AZR shall generate a random sampling of twenty-six (26) Days during the previous six (6) months using a random date generator such as https://www.random.org/calendar-dates/ to determine which recordings shall be provided to EPA and PADEP. AZR shall include documentation of the results of the random date generator with the reports required by this Paragraph.
- 47. <u>Initial Third-Party Professional Engineer EAF Dust Storage and Truck Wash Building Inspection</u>. No later than thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date, AZR shall have a qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer perform an inspection of the EAF Dust storage and truck wash building known as Building 608 and Building 624 to ensure compliance with the Containment Building Requirements. The inspection shall be conducted during normal operations.
- 48. AZR shall require the qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer

to prepare an inspection report with recommendations to ensure compliance with the Containment Building Requirements (PE Report). AZR shall submit the PE Report to Plaintiffs no later than thirty (30) Days after completion of the inspection required by Paragraph 47.

- a. AZR shall complete all work required to implement the PE Report recommendations to ensure compliance with the Containment Building Requirements no later than ninety (90) Days after receipt of the PE Report. In the event that AZR determines that completing the work will require more than ninety (90) Days, AZR shall submit a written request for additional time, with justification, to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables) within ten (10) Days of receipt of the PE Report. AZR shall complete all work in accordance with the EPA-approved schedule. AZR shall notify Plaintiffs and the qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer in writing that the work has been completed within seven (7) Days of work completion;
- b. AZR shall require that the qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer re-inspect Building 608 and Building 624, to ensure the work recommended by the PE Report has been completed, no later than thirty (30) Days after AZR has completed the work. If the qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer determines during this re-inspection that the work recommended in the PE Report has not been completed in full and as described in the PE Report, AZR shall submit the PE's determination to Plaintiffs no later than fourteen (14) Days after the date of the re-inspection. In this event, AZR shall complete such additional work no later than sixty (60) Days from receipt of this determination from the qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer unless AZR determines that completing this additional work will require more than sixty (60) Days, in which case AZR shall submit a written request for additional time, with justification, to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables) within ten (10) Days after receiving the determination. AZR shall complete the work within any additional timeframe approved by EPA; and,

- c. AZR shall require the qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer to provide a certification as defined at 40 C.F.R. § 260.10 to AZR and the Plaintiffs that recommendations in the PE Report have been implemented, all work has been completed, and Building 608 and Building 624 are in compliance with the Containment Building Requirements.
- 49. Annual Third-Party PE Inspections. After the completion of the requirements of Paragraph 48.a-c., above, AZR shall retain a qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer to perform annual inspections of Building 608 and Building 624 and to prepare a report identifying recommendations to ensure compliance with the Containment Building Requirements (PE Annual Inspection Report). AZR shall submit a copy of the PE Annual Inspection Report, as well as documentation of any repairs or modifications made as result of the inspection and PE Annual Inspection, with one of the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree.
- 50. Third Party Consultant Inspections of the Palmerton Storage Facility. In addition to the initial and annual inspections of Building 608 and Building 624 required by Paragraphs 48 and 49 of this Consent Decree, no later than thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date, AZR shall also have a qualified third-party consultant perform an inspection of the Palmerton Storage Facility to ensure compliance with the RCRA Permit and all other applicable

PAHWMR and Federal HW Requirements. The inspection performed pursuant to Paragraph 50 shall reflect the then-current status of and requirements applicable to materials managed at the Palmerton Storage Facility pursuant to the PAHWMR, the Federal HW Requirements, and other relevant provisions of this Consent Decree. This inspection shall not extend to the issues governed by the initial and annual inspections conducted pursuant to Paragraphs 48 and 49 of this Consent Decree.

- a. AZR shall require the qualified third-party consultant to prepare an inspection report with recommendations to ensure compliance with the RCRA Permit and all other applicable PAHWMR and Federal Requirements of AZR ("Consultant's Inspection Report"). AZR shall submit the Consultant's Inspection Report to Plaintiffs no later than thirty (30) Days after completion of the inspection required by Paragraph 50;
- b. AZR shall complete all work required to implement the Consultant's Inspection Report recommendations to ensure compliance with the RCRA Permit and all other applicable PAHWMR and Federal Requirements no later than ninety (90) Days after receipt of the Consultant's Inspection Report. If AZR determines that completing the work will require more than ninety (90) Days, AZR shall submit a written request for additional time, with justification, to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables) within ten (10) Days of receiving the Consultant's Inspection Report. AZR shall complete the work within any additional timeframe approved by EPA. AZR will notify Plaintiffs and the qualified third-party consultant that the work has been completed within seven (7) Days of work completion;
- c. AZR shall require that the qualified third-party consultant re-inspect the Palmerton Storage Facility to ensure the work recommended by the Consultant's Inspection Report has been completed no later than

- thirty (30) Days after AZR completes the work. If the qualified third-party consultant determines during this re-inspection that the work as recommended in the Consultant's Inspection Report has not been completed in full and as described in the Report, AZR shall submit the qualified third-party consultant's determination to Plaintiffs no later than fourteen (14) Days after completion of the qualified third-party consultant's re-inspection. In this event, AZR shall complete such additional work no later than sixty (60) Days from receipt of this determination from the qualified third-party consultant unless AZR determines that completing this additional work will require more than sixty (60) Days, in which case AZR shall submit a written request for additional time, with justification, to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables) within ten (10) Days after receiving the determination. AZR shall complete the work within any additional timeframe approved by EPA; and
- d. AZR shall require the qualified third-party consultant to provide a certification as defined at 40 C.F.R. § 260.10 to AZR and the Plaintiffs that the recommendations in the Consultant's Inspection Report have been implemented, all work has been completed, and the Palmerton Storage Facility is in compliance with the RCRA Permit and all other applicable PAHWMR and Federal HW Requirements.
- 51. AZR Inspections Pursuant to RCRA Permit. In addition to submission of the inspection reports required by Paragraphs 49 and 50.a.-c. of this Consent Decree, AZR shall submit to EPA and PADEP copies of reports of inspections performed by AZR of the Palmerton Storage Facility required by the RCRA Permit. The reports shall include a description of any equipment deterioration and other conditions that may result in spillage, fugitive air emissions, and or other operating malfunctions or failures, a description of

- any repairs or modifications made as a result of such inspections along with associated work orders. AZR shall submit such reports for a period of two (2) years from the Effective Date and shall include such reports with the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree.
- 52. CZO Variance Request and Management. In the event that that AZR elects to submit to PADEP, a solid waste variance request for CZO under 40 C.F.R. § 260.30(c), following procedures in 40 C.F.R. § 260.33, AZR shall simultaneously submit a copy to EPA. In the event PADEP approves the variance request in writing, after consultation with EPA, AZR shall manage the CZO as specified in the solid waste variance approval.
- 53. Procedures in the Event of Variance Denial. If, within thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date, AZR submits to PADEP a solid waste variance request for CZO pursuant to Paragraph 52, above, and PADEP, after consultation with EPA, issues a denial of such variance request, then, subject to the provisions of this Paragraph 53, AZR shall store all CZO, regardless of source, in a building that is in compliance with the Containment Building Requirements or in containers that meet the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 264, Subpart I, and shall manage the CZO in accordance with all of the PAHWMR and the Federal HW Requirements applicable to hazardous waste bearing the EPA hazardous waste numbers D006, D008, K061, and any

other applicable waste codes, beginning no later than thirty (30) months after the variance request denial. This Paragraph 53 shall not be construed as an admission or determination as to the status of CZO as a solid or hazardous waste.

54. In the event that AZR seeks to pursue dispute resolution in response to any denial by PADEP of a variance request for CZO submitted pursuant to Paragraph 52, such dispute resolution shall be governed by the provisions of this Paragraph 54 rather than pursuant to Section XII (Dispute Resolution) of this Consent Decree. In the event that PADEP, after consultation with EPA, issues a denial of a variance request for CZO, any such denial by PADEP shall be considered final agency action subject to appeal before the Pennsylvania Environmental Hearing Board ("EHB"), pursuant to 35 P.S. § 7514. Such appeal proceeding before the EHB shall constitute AZR's opportunity for dispute resolution relative to these provisions. In the event that, as a result of such dispute resolution, the variance request is granted (as submitted or in a modified format), then AZR shall comply with the requirements of the approved variance, including any conditions included in the approval, and no provision of this Consent Decree shall have the effect of limiting the scope and effect of, or benefits to AZR from, such approved variance.

- 55. Procedures in the Event of No Variance Request Submission. No later than thirty (30) months after the Effective Date, if AZR has not submitted a solid waste variance request for CZO, then subject to the provisions of this Paragraph 55, AZR shall store all CZO, regardless of source, in a building that is in compliance with the Containment Building Requirements or in containers that meet the requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 264, Subpart I, and shall manage the CZO in accordance with all of the PAHWMR and the Federal HW Requirements applicable to hazardous waste bearing the EPA hazardous waste numbers D006, D008, K061, and any other applicable waste codes. This Paragraph 55 shall not be construed as an admission or determination as to the status of CZO as a solid or hazardous waste.
- 56. Notwithstanding the foregoing Paragraphs 52-55, nothing in this Consent

 Decree shall prevent AZR from managing CZO (regardless of the source of such CZO) in accordance with any other exemption, exclusion, variance, or non-waste determination that may be applicable to such material pursuant to the PAHWMR and the Federal HW Regulations.
- 57. <u>Calcine Feed Material Storage</u>. AZR shall store all Calcine Feed Materials, regardless of source, in accordance with all applicable provisions of the PAHWMR and the Federal HW Requirements, beginning no later than ninety (90) Days after the Effective Date, unless a solid waste variance is

- sought and approved in writing for such Calcine Feed Materials, or the Calcine Feed Materials are subject to any other exemption, exclusion, variance, or non-waste determination that may be applicable to such material pursuant to the PAHWMR and the Federal Hazardous Waste Requirements.
- Section VI (Approval of Deliverables). AZR shall obtain a third-party determination for closure Cost Estimates. AZR shall obtain a third-party determination for closure cost estimates in accordance with 25 Pa. Code § 264a. Subchapter H and the Federal Corrective Action Requirements, for all areas and material at the Palmerton Facility listed in Appendix E, attached hereto, no later than one hundred and eighty (180) Days after the Effective Date. No later than fifteen (15) Days after AZR receives the third-party determination, AZR shall submit this closure cost estimate to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables).
- Closure Bond. AZR shall post a bond and/or increase the amount of a bond consistent with the requirements of 25 Pa. Code § 264a. Subchapter H, to meet the closure cost estimate as required by Paragraph 58, above, for all areas and material at the Palmerton Facility listed in Appendix E, attached hereto, no later than sixty (60) Days after obtaining written approval from EPA of the closure plan and closure cost estimate.
- 60. <u>Closure Plan</u>. AZR shall retain a qualified third-party to develop a closure plan for the areas of the Palmerton Facility as listed in Appendix E, attached

hereto, that shall be maintained and kept up to date by AZR, in accordance with 25 Pa. Code § 264a Subpart G, which incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. Part 264 Subpart G with exceptions not relevant herein. No later than one hundred and eighty (180) Days after the Effective Date, AZR shall submit this closure plan to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables).

- 61. Storage of Kiln Rubble and Brick. Beginning no later than the Date of Lodging, AZR shall store hazardous waste Kiln rubble and Kiln brick in accordance with 25 Pa. Code § 262a.10 which incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. § 262.34.
- 62. <u>Lime Bunker Signs and Storage</u>. No later than the Date of Lodging, AZR shall post signs on the Lime Bunker prohibiting, at all times, the storage of hazardous waste, including hazardous waste Kiln rubble and Kiln brick on the ground in the Lime Bunker.
- 63. <u>Lime Bunker Inspections</u>. Beginning no later than the Date of Lodging,

 AZR shall conduct and document weekly inspections of the Lime Bunker in
 accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 265.173 for any week in which hazardous
 waste is stored in containers as that term is defined by 25 Pa Code § 260a.1
 which incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. § 260.10 within the Lime Bunker.
- 64. <u>Hours of Operation Signs</u>. No later than the Date of Lodging, AZR shall

- post hours of operation at the Facility entrances.
- 65. Iron Rich Material Management Plan. No later than one hundred and eighty (180) Days after the Effective Date, AZR shall submit to EPA and PADEP, for PADEP approval, after consultation with EPA, an Iron Rich Material Management Plan that, at a minimum, addresses the production, Land Disposal Restriction ("LDR") compliance testing, storage, inventory management and tracking, coproduct determination(s), end use chemical/physical analysis parameters and specifications, and other use/re-use of any IRM at any location by AZR or any party. AZR shall implement the Iron Rich Material Management Plan no later than thirty (30) Days after receiving written approval from PADEP.
- 66. IRM Pad Regulatory Justification. No later than thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date, AZR shall submit to PADEP for approval a regulatory justification for AZR's use of IRM in the construction of the IRM Pad.
- 67. In the event that the Defendant determines to pursue dispute resolution in response to any non-concurrence or disapproval by PADEP, after consultation with EPA, with regard to AZR's regulatory justification required by Paragraph 66 of this Consent Decree, or the IRM Management Plan required by Paragraph 65 of this Consent Decree, such dispute resolution shall be governed by the provisions of this Paragraph 67, rather

than pursuant to Section XII (Dispute Resolution). In the event that PADEP, after consultation with EPA, disapproves or otherwise does not concur with AZR's regulatory justification or IRM Management Plan, PADEP shall provide written notice of the reason for such nonconcurrence of disapproval. Within forty-five (45) Days of its receipt of such nonconcurrence or disapproval, AZR shall respond to the Plaintiffs with a revised regulatory justification and/or IRM Management Plan. PADEP, after consultation with EPA, will then either approve the regulatory justification and/or IRM Management Plan or issue a written explanation of its further disapproval or nonconcurrence. The parties agree that any such determination by PADEP, after consultation with EPA, shall be considered final agency action subject to appeal before the Pennsylvania Environmental Hearing Board ("EHB"), pursuant to 35 P.S. Section 7514. Such appeal proceeding before the EHB shall constitute AZR's opportunity for dispute resolution relative to these provisions and the Dispute Resolution provisions of Section XII of this Consent Decree shall not apply to any disputes relating to PADEP's determination pursuant to this Paragraph 67 of this Consent Decree.

- 68. AZR shall operate and maintain the IRM Storage Building in accordance with the requirements of 25 Pa. Code Chapter 299.
- 69. Nothing in Paragraphs 65-68 of this Consent Decree shall be construed as an

admission or determination as to the status of IRM under the Pennsylvania residual waste laws and regulations, the PAHWMR, and the Federal HW Requirements.

2. <u>Development and Implementation of RCRA Standard Operating</u> <u>Procedures and Plans</u>

SOP for PD Station. Within the later of thirty (30) Days following the 70. Effective Date or fifteen (15) Days after completion of the requirements of Paragraphs 46.a.-e., above, AZR shall develop a Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) for the PD Station that includes the requirements of Paragraph 46.a.-e., above. The PD Station SOP shall also require no fewer than one Facility employee, who is trained in accordance with Section VIII (Training) of this Consent Decree and all other applicable PAHWR and Federal HQ Requirements, shall be present at the PD Station during all unloading operations for at least six (6) months after completion of the requirements of Paragraph 46.a., c., d., and e., above, to ensure such operations are in compliance with the RCRA Permit and all other applicable PAHWR and Federal HW Requirements. Pressure differential truck drivers shall be provided a copy of this SOP and informed to adhere to its requirements and to AZR's new best management practices implemented to minimize risk of release of hazardous waste from the PD Station. AZR shall

- commence implementation of the PD Station SOP no later than ten (10)

 Days after development of the SOP as required by this Paragraph 70.
- 71. Truck Wash Building 624 Video Camera Installation. Within thirty (30)

 Days after the Effective Date, AZR shall install a motion-activated video camera system on the exterior of Building 624 to record each truck leaving Building 624 and the surrounding pavement. The video camera shall be positioned to show whether each truck using the truck wash station has been sufficiently washed to prevent track-out of EAF Dust from trucks exiting the Truck Wash Building 624. The motion activated video camera shall operate at all times and shall record each truck and the surrounding pavement as each truck exits Building 624.
- 72. SOP for Truck Washing. Within thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date,
 AZR shall develop an SOP that includes design enhancements and detailed
 procedures, including operation of the video camera as required by
 Paragraph 71, above, to ensure the thorough washing of trucks leaving
 Building 608's Truck Wash Building 624 and includes the requirements of
 Paragraphs 73-76 of this Consent Decree. AZR shall implement this SOP no
 later than ten (10) Days after the development of the SOP as required by this
 Paragraph 72 of this Consent Decree.
- 73. For at least six (6) months following implementation of design

enhancements to the truck wash station and detailed procedures to ensure thorough washing, trucks completing the truck wash process shall be monitored by a Facility employee who has been trained in accordance with the training requirements of Section VIII (Training) of this Consent Decree. If the employee observes that a truck has not been sufficiently washed by the truck wash process to prevent track-out of EAF Dust, the employee shall require implementation of additional washing steps to prevent such trackout. The employee shall have the necessary communications equipment to enable immediate communication with Facility supervisors of any problem which arises at the Truck Wash Building 624. For each instance in which the employee observes insufficiencies in the truck wash process that result in implementation of a change to the wash process to prevent EAF Dust trackout, the trained employee shall continue to be present during truck wash operations to monitor for additional design or operational problems, for an additional sixty (60) Days from the date of the change.

74. After the conclusion of the monitoring period required by Paragraph 73 above, the video recordings required by Paragraphs 71 and 72, above, shall be reviewed weekly by a Facility employee who has been trained in accordance with the training requirements of Section VIII (Training) of this Consent Decree and any other PAHWR and Federal HW Requirements for a

period of sixty (60) Days. The weekly review shall consist of reviewing the previous seven (7) Days of video recordings to determine the effectiveness of the truck wash process. After the conclusion of the sixty (60) Days of review required by this Paragraph 74, the video recordings required by Paragraphs 71 and 72, above, shall be reviewed once per month by a Facility employee who has been trained in accordance with the training requirements of Section VIII (Training) of this Consent Decree and any other PAHWR and Federal HW Requirements. The monthly review required by this Paragraph 74 shall consist of reviewing a random sampling of five (5) Days during the previous thirty (30) Days using a random date generator such as https://random.org/calendar-dates/. AZR shall submit documentation of the results of the random date generator with the reports required by this Paragraph. In the event the recordings reviewed show any truck leaving Building 624 that has not been sufficiently washed to prevent trackout of EAF Dust, the employee shall document the observation in writing. AZR shall take remedial action to ensure future truck washing is adequate to prevent EAF Dust track-out. AZR shall submit the documentation required by this Paragraph 74, and a description of any remedial action taken to correct any failure to complete truck washing, with the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124, below.

- For a period of one (1) year from commencement of implementation of the 75. Truck Wash SOP required by Paragraph 72, above, AZR shall submit to EPA and PADEP, or provide an internet address from which EPA and PADEP may download, copies of the video recordings of trucks leaving the truck wash stations for twenty-six (26) Days from each of the two six-month intervals comprising that one-year period. Such video recordings shall be submitted or made available via internet download with the semi-annual reports required by Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree. To implement this process, prior to the date of the semi-annual reports, AZR shall generate a random sampling of twenty-six (26) Days during the previous six (6) months using a random date generator such as http://www.random.org/calendar-dates/ for which recordings shall be provided to EPA and PADEP. AZR shall submit documentation of the results of the random date generator with the reports required by this Paragraph.
- 76. In addition to the requirement of Paragraph 75, above, to submit copies of video recordings with the semi-annual reports, AZR shall retain all video recordings required by Paragraphs 71 and 72, above, for each truck leaving the Truck Wash Building 624 for at least ninety (90) Days from the time each truck leaves the Truck Wash Building 624. AZR shall provide such

- video recordings to EPA and PADEP upon request.
- ZRM Storage Pile Removal Plan. Within seven (7) Days of the Effective 77. Date, AZR shall submit to EPA for approval in accordance with Section VI (Approval of Deliverables), a Storage Pile Removal Plan for the ZRM at the Facility, and shall include documentation of the amount of ZRM in storage at the Palmerton Facility at that time as determined by AZR using methods such as inventory records and physical characteristics of the ZRM, such as the size of the ZRM pile and density of the material. AZR shall remove all ZRM in accordance with the EPA-approved ZRM Storage Pile Removal Plan. This Storage Pile Removal Plan shall provide for removal of the ZRM from the Facility over a time period of no more than eighteen (18) months, with interim requirements that at least 75% of the ZRM is removed from the Facility within the first twelve (12) months and any remaining ZRM is removed within the last six (6) months. The Storage Pile Removal Plan shall include requirements for AZR to submit records to EPA documenting compliance with the Plan, including hazardous waste manifests, legitimate recycling information, weights of ZRM recycling and shipments amounts, and time frames. The Storage Pile Removal Plan may utilize a combination of on-site recycling of the ZRM as well as shipment offsite for storage, treatment, and/or disposal of the ZRM as a D006, D008, and any other

applicable hazardous waste codes, hazardous waste at an appropriate permitted treatment, storage, and/or disposal facility. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section VI of this Consent Decree (Approval of Deliverables) upon EPA disapproval of the ZRM Storage Pile Removal Plan or portion of the Plan, AZR shall submit a revised Plan within fifteen (15) Days of receipt of EPA's written disapproval. AZR shall implement the ZRM Storage Pile Removal Plan no later than fifteen (15) Days after receiving written approval from EPA.

- 78. AZR shall review annually each SOP and plan required by Paragraphs 70, 72 and 77 of this Consent Decree, as well as the results of the implementation of such SOPs and plans, and shall update the SOPs and plans annually based on the review and results of implementation. AZR shall make all such SOPs and plans available to EPA and PADEP upon request. AZR shall include all current SOPs and plans required by Paragraphs 70, 72 and 77 of this Consent Decree in the training content required by Section VIII (Training) of this Consent Decree.
- 79. <u>Settling Basins Regulatory Justification</u>. No later than thirty (30) Days after the Effective Date, AZR shall submit to EPA for approval pursuant to Section VI (Approval of Deliverables) a Settling Basins Regulatory Justification that identifies the regulatory status of each of the Settling

Basins, and includes waste determinations made in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 262.11 and all other applicable Federal HW Requirements for any material contained within or removed from the Settling Basins located at the Palmerton Facility. The Regulatory Justification shall also include a map or diagram depicting any and all lines leading into and out of the Settling Basins as well as the origin and destination of the lines, a list of all materials that enter the Settling Basins, construction diagram(s) for the Settling Basins, and a determination on whether any of the Settling Basins meet the definition of a tank or a surface impoundment. If AZR seeks to assert that the Settling Basins are exempt from RCRA regulations, AZR shall provide a detailed narrative and supporting documentation to support any such assertion as part of its Regulatory Justification submitted in accordance with Section VI (Approval of Deliverables). AZR shall commence management of the Settling Basins in accordance with EPA's approval or disapproval of AZR's Regulatory Justification no later than fifteen (15) Days from receipt of EPA's approval or disapproval.

C. Clean Air Act Compliance Requirements

1. Process Monitoring and Maintenance

80. Defendant shall monitor and record the following operating parameters for each Kiln and associated Product Collector as specified in this Paragraph 80.

Data shall be collected and logged in an electronic spreadsheet format compatible with commercially available software on a per Kiln per operating mode basis:

	Parameter	Kiln/Operating Mode	Monitoring Frequency	Data Logging Frequency
a.	Kiln Feed Rate	All Kilns in all	Continuous	Continuous Data
		modes	Monitoring	Collection
b.	Zinc concentration in Waelzing feed	Combined feed for K1-Waelz and K2, K5	At least 1 sample of combined feed directed, as applicable, to K1 – Waelz, K2, and K5 per operating shift	Daily average of samples
c.	Zinc concentration in Zinc Calcine	Combined feed for K1-Calcine and K6	At least 1 sample of combined feed directed to K1 – Calcine and/or K6 per operating shift	Daily average of samples
d.	Burner operating hours	All Kilns in all modes	Continuous Monitoring	Identify the hours of operation and total hours per day by recording burner start and end times
e.	Burner fuel combusted	All Kilns in all modes	Continuous Monitoring of aggregate fuel combustion by kilns	Daily record of fuel use in average hourly MMBtu per hour
f.	Upkiln Temperature	K1 -Waelz K2, K5	Continuous Monitoring	Continuous Data Collection
g.	Kiln Discharge Temperature	All Kilns in all modes	Continuous Monitoring	Continuous Data Collection
h.	Dust Catcher Inlet Temperature	All Kilns in all modes	Continuous Monitoring	Continuous Data Collection
i.	Product Collector Inlet Temperature	All Kilns in all modes	Continuous Monitoring	Continuous Data Collection

	Parameter	Kiln/Operating	Monitoring	Data Logging
		Mode	Frequency	Frequency
j.	Product Collector	K1, K2, and K5	Continuous	Continuous Data
	Fan Speed		Monitoring	Collection
k.	Product Collector	K6	Continuous	Continuous Data
	Fan Damper		Monitoring	Collection
	Position			
1.	Product Collector	All Kilns in all	Continuous	Continuous Data
	Differential	modes	Monitoring	Collection
	Pressure Drop			

For purposes of this Paragraph 80, "Continuous Monitoring" and "Continuous Data Collection" shall mean monitoring and recording, respectively, at the following frequencies:

- (i) the parameters governed by Paragraphs 80.f.-i. shall be monitored no less frequently than once every ten (10) seconds, and recorded no less frequently than once every one (1) minute; and
- (ii) the parameters governed by Paragraphs 80.a., d., e., j.-l. shall be monitored and recorded no less frequently than once every one (1) minute.

For purposes of AZR's compliance to conduct Continuous Monitoring and Continuous Data Collection under this Consent Decree, monitoring shall be deemed continuous if data is available (i) in each calendar month for at least 90% of the time periods for which the operational parameter applies; and (ii) in each calendar quarter for at least 95% of the hours for which the operational parameter applies.

- 81. Defendant shall install scales on the Kilns and determine feed rate in order to comply with Paragraph 80.a. as follows:
 - (a) No later than the Effective Date, Defendant shall install scales on

the feed belt serving Kiln #2 and the feed belt serving both Kiln #1 (in Waelzing mode) and Kiln #5. Defendant shall determine feed rate for Kiln #2 based on the feed weight measured by the scale on the feed belt serving Kiln #2. For Kiln #1 (in Waelzing mode) and Kiln #5, Defendant shall determine feed rate based on the combined feed weight measured by the scale on the feed belt serving both Kiln #1 (in Waelzing mode) and Kiln #5 and the relative time that feed is directed by the plough to each Kiln respectively.

- (b) No later than the Effective Date, Defendant shall determine feed rate for Kiln #1 (in Calcining mode) and Kiln #6 by recording the feed pan speed based on the determination of Calcining product output as a 7-day rolling average. No later than one year from the Effective Date, Defendant shall install scales on the feed belts serving Kiln #1 (in Calcining mode) and Kiln #6, respectively, and shall determine feed rate for Kiln #1 (Calcining) and Kiln #6 based on the feed weight measured by the scales on the feed belts serving Kiln #1 (Calcining) and Kiln #6, respectively.
- 82. Within six (6) months of the Effective Date, for Product Collectors dedicated to Kiln #1, Kiln #2, Kiln #5 and Kiln #6, respectively, Defendant shall install and operate Bag Leak Detection Systems ("BLDS") and

maintain and operate such systems in accordance with manufacturer's specifications. Each BLDS shall be equipped with a sensor that is identified by the manufacturer as capable of detecting emissions of particulate matter at concentrations of 10 milligrams per actual cubic meter in order to monitor relative particulate matter loadings in the exhaust of the product collectors in order to detect bag leaks and other upset conditions. The BLDS sensor output shall be continuously recorded using a strip chart, recorder, data logger, or other means. The Bag Leak Detection Systems shall also be equipped with an alarm system that (i) will sound when it detects emissions from any Product Collector above a pre-set level specified by the manufacturer, and (ii) is located such that it can be heard by the designated plant personnel responsible for investigating increased particulate loading and taking corrective actions as appropriate. Defendant shall maintain records on-site of all inspections and maintenance performed on the BLDS, including the date and time of each inspection or maintenance activity and any corrective actions performed.

83. For Baghouses associated with the sources listed in this Paragraph 83,

Defendant shall monitor the pressure drop in inches of water across the

Baghouse no less frequently than once every one (1) minute and record the
readings once per operating shift in inches of water.

- a. Feed Hopper Loading (PROC 233, Control C54)
- b. Truck Sweep Station/Material Conveyor Transfer (Building 608Pickup) (PROC 236, Control C58)
- c. F2 Kiln Discharge Fugitive Dust Collector (PROC 238, Control C60)
- d. F1 Kiln Discharge Fugitive Dust Collector (PROC 239, Control C61)
- e. Kiln Feed Conveying System (PROC 245, Control C63)
- 84. For Baghouses associated with the sources listed in this Paragraph 84

 (with a design capacity of 5,000 ACFM or less), Defendant shall monitor the pressure drop in inches of water across the baghouse no less frequently than once every one (1) minute and record the differential pressure drop two times per operating day during different shifts, in inches of water.
- a. Lead Concentrate Pneumatic Conveyer (PROC 230, Control C51)
- b. EAF Dust Railcar Unloading (PROC 235, Controls C56 and C57)
- c. PD Railcar Unloading (PROC 213, Controls C29 and C29A)
- d. CZO Unloading System (PROC 214, Control C66)
- e. Pneumatic Materials Handling (PROC 246, Controls C64A, C64B, C64C, C64D, C64E)
- f. Calcine Kiln Feed Receiving Bin (PROC 248, Control C67)
- g. Lead Concentrate Sack Packer (PROC 237, Control C59)
- h. C2 Conveyer Transfer Point (PROC 234 Control C55)

- 85. Defendant shall report the results of the monitoring and recording required by Paragraphs 80, 83, and 84, with the appropriate units for each parameter, with the semi-annual report in accordance with Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree. For any data collected pursuant to Paragraph 80.a., f. through 1., data shall be compiled into hourly averages for the purpose of reporting such data under this Paragraph 85. All other data shall be reported as identified in Paragraphs 80, 83, and 84. This data shall be transmitted in electronic spreadsheet format compatible with commercially available software.
- 86. Defendant shall maintain the operating pressure differential across each

 Baghouse identified in Paragraphs 83 and 84 within the pressure drop ranges
 listed in Table 1 in this Paragraph.

TABLE 1 – Pressure Drop Ranges for Baghouses

Name of Emission Source	Control Device ID	Pressure Drop Range (in Water Column (w.c.))
PD Railcar Unloading	C29	0.5 to 5.0
PD Railcar Unloading	C29A	0.5 to 5.0
CZO Unloading System	C66	0.5 to 5.0
Lead Concentrate Pneumatic Conveyer	C51	0.5 to 5.0
Feed Hopper Loading	C54	0.5 to 5.0
EAF Dust Unloading/Storage Conveyor	C55	0.5 to 5.0
Transfer Systems		
EAF Dust Railcar Unloading	C56	0.5 to 5.0
EAF Dust Railcar Unloading	C57	0.5 to 5.0

Name of Emission Source	Control Device ID	Pressure Drop Range (in Water Column (w.c.))
Truck Sweep Station/Material Conveyor Transfer Systems (Bldg 608 Pickup)	C58	0.5 to 5.0
Lead Concentrate Sack Packer	C59	0.5 to 5.0
F2 Kiln Discharge Area Fugitive Dust Collector	C60	0.5 to 5.0
F1 Kiln Discharge Area Fugitive Dust Collector	C61	0.5 to 5.0
Kiln Feed Conveying System	C63	0.5 to 5.0
Pneumatic Materials Handling – Receiving silo bin vent A	C64A	0.5 to 5.0
Pneumatic Material Handling – Receiving silo bin vent B	C64B	0.5 to 5.0
Pneumatic Materials Handling – Receiving silo bin vent C	C64C	0.5 to 5.0
Pneumatic Materials Handling – Receiving silo bin vent D	C64D	0.5 to 5.0
Pneumatic Materials Handling – Receiving silo bin vent E	C64E	0.5 to 5.0
Calcine Kiln Feed Receiving Bin	C67	0.5 to 5.0

87. Notwithstanding Paragraph 86 above, Defendant may submit for EPA approval an alternative pressure drop range for any Baghouse. Such submittal shall be addressed according to the provisions of Section VI (Approval of Deliverables). Defendant shall justify the basis for the proposed alternative range as achieving at least comparable levels of system performance and environmental protection as the ranges(s) identified in Table 1 in Paragraph 86 and include supporting data. If EPA does not act on Defendant's request for approval within sixty (60) Days of receipt of such request, then Defendant may begin complying with its proposed alternative

- ranges in the absence of EPA approval.
- 88. If the pressure drop measured in accordance with Paragraphs 83 and 84 is outside the range established for a listed Baghouse for any source in Paragraph 86, Table 1 (or the alternative pressure drop range pursuant to Paragraph 87), or if the Bag Leak Detection System alarm is activated, Defendant shall begin corrective actions as soon as possible but not later than twenty-four (24) hours of when the pressure drop is first measured outside the range listed in Paragraph 86, Table 1, or the alarm begins, as applicable. The corrective actions shall include, at a minimum, inspecting the pressure drop monitor for proper operation and the baghouse for air leaks, torn or broken bags or filter media, or any other condition that may cause an increase in emissions.
- 89. Defendant shall maintain records of each pressure drop excursion or BLDS alarm, including the starting and ending date and time of the event, the length of time from alarm to the commencement of corrective action, the cause of the event (including unknown cause), a description of the corrective actions taken.
- 90. Within seventy-two (72) hours of the pressure drop excursion or BLDS alarm, Defendant shall correct the pressure drop excursion at the affected Baghouse or the bag leak at the affected Product Collector, as applicable.

Failure to correct the pressure drop excursion to within the required range for the affected Baghouse as stated in Paragraph 86, Table 1, or to correct the bag leak at the affected Product Collector, within this time will subject Defendant to stipulated penalties unless Defendant was not then operating the air contamination source. If Defendant is unable to correct the pressure drop excursion to within the required range for the affected Baghouse in Paragraph 86, Table 1, or to correct the bag leak at the affected Product Collector, within seventy-two (72) hours of when the system first identifies an excursion outside acceptable operating conditions or the BLDS alarm sounds, as applicable, then Defendant shall notify EPA and PADEP within twenty-four (24) hours of the end of such 72-hour period. Such notice shall provide the information identified in Paragraph 89, above.

91. For all Product Collector bags at the Facility, Defendant shall commission laboratory assessments of such bags no less frequently than every six (6) months, with the initial assessment due within six (6) months of the Effective Date, to determine the appropriate bag replacement frequencies for such bags. For all non-Product Collector bags at the Facility, Defendant shall commission laboratory assessments of such bags no less frequently than once every twelve (12) months, with the initial assessment due within twelve (12) months of the Effective Date, to determine the appropriate bag

replacement frequencies for such bags. For all Product Collectors and Baghouses at the Facility, Defendant shall record bag replacement dates and shall retain such records for five (5) years, or until the next bag replacement, whichever is longer.

- 92. Thirty (30) days prior to installation of any new Baghouse or Product Collector, in addition to any required Plan Approval or other PADEP requirement, Defendant shall submit to EPA and PADEP, the following:
 - a. the manufacturer's specifications and recommendations for pressure drop;
 - b. bag replacement schedules;
 - c. the specific Baghouse or Product Collector by Source ID; and
 - d. the manufacturer's name and contact information.
- 93. Following any installation of a new Baghouse, shutdown of any source controlled by a Baghouse, or adjustment to the pressure drop range applicable to a Baghouse pursuant to Paragraph 87, Defendant shall update Table 1 in Paragraph 86 in accordance with the notice required in Paragraph 87, and submit such update with the next semi-annual report required in Paragraph 124. Defendant shall keep the current list of Baghouses and their associated pressure drop ranges at the Facility and shall make it available to EPA and PADEP upon request.

2. <u>Air Emission Monitoring</u>

94. For Kiln #1, Kiln #2, Kiln #5, and Kiln #6, Defendant shall operate all

Continuous Opacity Monitoring Systems (COMS) in accordance with the current version of the Pennsylvania Continuous Source Monitoring Manual (Document 274-0300-001). For each COMS, Defendant shall ensure that valid hours per month or valid hours per quarter for assessing opacity comply with the Pennsylvania Code Title 25 Chapter 139.102(3) and the Pennsylvania Continuous Source Monitoring Manual.

3. Air Emission Testing

- Defendant shall undertake the Emissions Tests required under this Consent Decree in accordance with the provisions of Section V.C. of this Consent Decree (Clean Air Act Compliance Requirements). At least ninety (90)

 Days before any proposed Emissions Test date, for each Emissions Test required by this Consent Decree, Defendant shall submit a proposed test protocol to EPA and PADEP, for written approval by PADEP, after consultation with EPA. All Emissions Testing and related submittals shall conform to the applicable PADEP-approved test protocol. In its stack test protocol, Defendant shall propose a minimum in-stack method detection limit for the reporting of each metal pollutant in the stack test report. For the Kilns, the submitted test protocol shall include the additional sampling and testing required in Paragraph 98, below.
- 96. Defendant shall conduct Emissions Testing on the air contamination sources

listed in Tables 1A, 1B and 1C, to demonstrate compliance with the emission requirements in its Title V Permit, plan approval, or other authorization, as applicable, and to calculate total facility-wide emissions in accordance with CAA requirements. Tables 1A, 1B, and 1C identify the source name, source ID, pollutants to be tested, and frequency of testing. For the report required under this Paragraph 96, the procedures under PADEP's Source Testing Manual Section 2.2 regarding non-detect values and minimum detection limits shall be used. If, during the Initial Emissions Test identified in Tables 1A and 1B, any Additional Metal is reported at or below either the limit of detection or the limit of quantification applicable to such parameter in each sample fraction, then the parties agree that such Additional Metal is not intended to be characterized as known to be present in the emissions from the Palmerton Facility for purposes of reporting pursuant to Section 313 of the Emergency Planning and Community Rightto-Know Act and its implementing regulations at 40 CFR Part 372, and shall not be required to be included in emission estimations for the Facility, in accordance with 25 Pa. Code § 135.3.

97. Defendant shall perform initial Emissions Testing according to the schedule in Tables 1B and 1C. Following the initial Emissions Testing of 1B and 1C sources, subsequent Emissions Testing shall be adjusted from the required

frequency specified in Tables 1B and 1C, as applicable, as follows:

- a. If the PM results from the initial Emissions Test or any two later and consecutive Emissions Tests are less than 50% the Title V Permit PM standard, then Defendant may conduct PM Emissions Testing once every five (5) years for such sources, as applicable.
- b. If the PM results from the initial Emissions Test or any two later and consecutive Emissions Tests are less than 20% of the Title V Permit PM standard, then Defendant shall not be obligated to conduct any subsequent PM Emissions Testing for such sources under this Consent Decree.
- c. If the SOx results from the initial Emissions Test of the sources listed in Table 1B.2. (F2 Kiln Discharge Area Fugitive Dust Collector) and Table 1B.3. (F1 Kiln Discharge Area Fugitive Dust Collector) correspond to an aggregate annual emission rate of less than 100 tpy, then Defendant shall not be obligated to conduct any subsequent SOx Emissions Testing for such sources under this Consent Decree.

This Paragraph 97 is not intended to relieve Defendant of any statutory, regulatory or permit obligation that would otherwise apply.

- 98. Defendant agrees to the following for any Emissions Tests performed on Kiln #1, Kiln #2, Kiln #5 or Kiln #6, in Waelzing or Calcining mode, as applicable, for each kiln:
 - a. each of the three (3) required Emissions Test runs shall be conducted for a minimum of two (2) hours per run;
 - b. an Emissions Test protocol shall be submitted for each Emissions Test to be conducted, that will propose procedures for the sampling and analysis of Waelz Oxide, Iron Rich Material, Lead Chloride, and Zinc Calcine at the end of each of the three (3) Emissions Test runs for the metals tested in the Emissions Test. The analysis using EPA's SW-846 (Update VI) Method 6010D or an equivalent test method as

- specified and approved in the test protocol shall be performed by an independent and certified analytical laboratory; and
- c. proposed procedures shall be submitted for (1) determining the ratio of the EAF dust to carbon (for kilns operating in Waelzing mode), and (2) sampling of Waelz oxide feed (for kilns operating in Calcining mode). Each of these feed materials shall be separately sampled at the beginning and end of testing, as well as at thirty (30) minute intervals during testing, compositing each feed material's thirty (30) minute aliquots into separate feed material samples per test run for analysis by an independent and certified analytical laboratory using EPA's SW-846 (Update VI) Method 6010D or an equivalent test method as specified and approved in the test protocol.
- 99. Defendant shall identify any non-detect values in the Emissions Test report.

 All laboratory data including raw data, calibrations, and minimum detection levels shall be provided in the test report required to be submitted pursuant to Paragraph 102 of this Consent Decree.
- 100. Defendant shall apply the procedures and practices contained in the EPA

 Best Practices Handbook for Method 202, for any Emissions Test using EPA

 Method 202, 40 C.F.R. Part 51, Appendix M.
- 101. During Emissions Testing, Defendant shall record all applicable operating parameters in Paragraphs 80, 83, and 84 at 15-minute intervals, unless Defendant is required by Paragraph 80 to record this data continuously.

 These operating parameter data shall be included in the Emissions Test report required to be submitted pursuant to Paragraph 102, below. For the purpose of Emissions Testing, the data collected pursuant to Paragraph 80.a.

- and f. through l., shall be reported as one-minute averages for the duration of each Emissions Test run. The one-minute averages may then be used to determine any further average, such as run average, hourly rolling average, or block hour average.
- 102. No later than sixty (60) Days after completion of any Emissions Test,Defendant shall submit an Emissions Test report to EPA and PADEP.
- 103. Following the completion of the initial Emissions Test for each Kiln,

 Defendant shall collect samples of Waelz Oxide, IRM, Zinc Calcine and

 Lead Chloride on a monthly composite basis. The monthly composite

 samples are to be obtained by sampling the same amount of each material

 once per operating day for the respective Kiln in the respective operating

 mode, and combining each of these equally sized samples to be analyzed for
 all metals included Table 1A. Defendant may propose a reduction in the

 frequency and/or extent of such sampling based on consistency of sampling

 results determined in accordance with this provision.

4. Air Emissions Calculations and Reporting

104. By March 1 of each year, consistent with the requirements of 25 PA Code

Section 135, Defendant shall submit to PADEP, information,

documentation, and calculations for the determination of total Facility-wide
annual emissions, including all fugitive emissions sources and emissions by

source. Defendant shall use the most representative information available to calculate these emissions. In determining the most representative information, Defendant shall expressly consider the most recent data obtained through testing under Paragraphs 95 through 102, any sampling data obtained during the applicable reporting year, including the monthly composite sampling data pursuant to Paragraph 103, and Defendant's best engineering judgment. To the extent that the data used by Defendant to calculate emissions is not consistent with the most recent data obtained through testing, then Defendant must include with its calculations an explanation for such inconsistency.

105. Defendant shall keep records of the emission calculations required by Section V.C. of this Consent Decree (Clean Air Act Compliance Requirements), including all supporting documentation.

5. <u>Fugitive Emissions</u>

106. No later than the Effective Date, Defendant shall implement the Fugitive

Dust Control Plan attached to this Consent Decree as Appendix A.

Defendant shall assess at least annually the Fugitive Dust Control Plan,

including by reviewing the effectiveness of the Fugitive Dust Control Plan at

minimizing the generation of fugitive dust and determining whether any

update is necessary to reflect changes to existing measures and the

- introduction of new measures, consistent with the objectives of the Fugitive Dust Control Plan.
- 107. If any updates are made to the Fugitive Dust Control Plan pursuant to

 Paragraph 106, Defendant shall submit a copy of the updated Fugitive Dust

 Control Plan with the next semi-annual report due to be submitted in

 accordance with Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree.
- 108. Until such time as PADEP modifies the Facility's Title V Permit to require compliance with the applicable Fugitive Dust Control Plan, Defendant shall include within its semi-annual reports submitted in accordance with Paragraph 124 a description of compliance with the Fugitive Dust Control Plan.

6. Emergency Generator

109. No later than one (1) year after the Effective Date, Defendant shall install, and thereafter operate, and maintain, in accordance with manufacturer's specifications, and applicable regulations, an Emergency Generator for Kiln #6 (Source ID 153). Defendant shall keep maintenance and operational records for such Emergency Generator.

<u>Table 1A – Product Collectors - Emissions Testing Requirements</u>

Name of Source	Source ID	Test Method and Applicable Pollutants	Test Schedule/Frequency
1. Kiln 1 Waelzing	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 149, CNTL C04, CNTL 67, STAC S04, STAC S67	Test for CO, using Method 10	Annual testing as required in Title 5 Permit at E. Group 2 #005.
2. Kiln 1 Waelzing	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 149, CNTL C04, CNTL 67, STAC S04, STAC S67	Initial Emissions Test: Test for Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb) using Method 29	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests.
3. Kiln 1 Waelzing	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 149, CNTL C04, CNTL 67, STAC S04, STAC S67	Test for SOx, using Method 8 Test for VOCs, using Method 25 unless the Non-Methane Hydrocarbons (NMHCs) are less than 50 ppmvd as carbon. If so, use Method 25A/18 Test for NOx, using Method 7E	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 5 years between subsequent tests.
4. Kiln 1 Calcining	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 149, CNTL C04, CNTL 67, STAC S04, STAC S67	Initial Emissions Test: Test for Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable): Methods 1-5 plus 202 Method 29 for lead (Pb)	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests.

Name of Source	Source ID	Test Method and Applicable Pollutants	Test Schedule/Frequency
5. Kiln 1 Calcining	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 149, CNTL C04, CNTL 67, STAC S04, STAC S67	Test for SOx, using Method 8 Test for VOCs using Method 25 unless the Non-Methane Hydrocarbons (NMHCs) are less than 50 ppmvd as carbon. If so, then use Method 25A/18 Test for NOx, using Method 7E Test for CO, using Method 10	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 5 years between subsequent tests.
6. Kiln 2 Waelzing	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 150, CNTL C05, STAC S05	Initial Emissions Test: Test for Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable) using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests.
7. Kiln 2 Waelzing	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 150, CNTL C05, STAC S05	Test for SOx, using Method 8 Test for CO, using Method 10 Test for VOCs, using Method 25 unless the Non-Methane Hydrocarbons (NMHCs) are less than 50 ppmvd as carbon. If so, then Method 25A/18 Test for NOx, using Method 7E	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 5 years between subsequent tests.
8. Kiln 5 Waelzing	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 152, CNTL C07, STAC S07	Initial Emissions Test: Test for Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests.

Name of Source	Source ID	Test Method and Applicable	Test Schedule/Frequency
9. Kiln 5 Waelzing	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 152, CNTL C07, STAC S07	Test for SOx, using Method 8 Test for CO, using Method 10 Test for VOCs, using Method 25; unless the Non-Methane Hydrocarbons (NMHCs) are less than 50 ppmvd as carbon, then use Method 25A/18 Test for NOx, using Method 7E	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 5 years between subsequent tests.
10. Kiln 6 Calcining	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 153, CNTL C16, STAC S96	Initial Emissions Test: Test for Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests.
11. Kiln 6 Calcining	FML 01, FML 03, PROC 153, CNTL C16, STAC S96	Test for SOx, using Method 8 Test for CO, using Method 10 Test for VOCs, using Method 25unless the Non-Methane Hydrocarbons (NMHCs) are less than 50 ppmvd as carbon, then use Method 25A/18 Test for NO _x , using Method 7E	Initial test 1 year from Effective Date; at a frequency of no more than 5 years between subsequent tests.

<u>Table 1B – Baghouses – Emissions Testing Requirements</u>

Name of Source	Source ID	Test Method and Applicable Pollutants	Test Schedule/Frequency
Lead Concentrate Sack Packer	PROC 237, CNTL C59, STAC S59	Initial Emissions Test: Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	Initial test 2 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
2. F2 Kiln Discharge Area Fugitive Dust Collector	PROC 238, CNTL C60. STAC S60	Initial Emissions Test: Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for SOx using Method 8 Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	Initial test 2 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
3. F1 Kiln Discharge Area Fugitive Dust Collector	PROC 239, CNTL C61, STAC S61	Initial Emissions Test: Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn) All Tests: Test for SOx using Method 8 Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	Initial test 2 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
4. Truck Sweep Station/Mate rial	PROC 236, CNTL C58, STAC S58	Initial Emissions Test: Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr),	Initial test 2 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3

Conveyor Transfer (Bldg 608		cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn))	years between subsequent tests
Pickup)			
Tionup)		All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	
5. Feed Hopper Loading	PROC 233, CNTL C54, STAC S54	Initial Emissions Test: Additional Metals in Method 29 train (arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), cobalt (Co), mercury (Hg), manganese (Mn), nickel (Ni), zinc (Zn)) All Tests: Test for total PM (filterable and condensable), using Methods 1-5 plus 202 Test for lead (Pb), using Method 29	Initial test 2 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests

Table 1C – Smaller Baghouses - Emissions Testing

Table 1C – Smaller Baghouses -Emissions Testing			
Name of Source	Source ID	Test Method and Applicable Pollutants	Test Schedule/Frequency
PD Railcar unloading	PROC 213, CNTL C29, STAC S27, CNTL C29A, STAC S27A	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
2. CZO Unloading System	PROC 214, CNTL C66, STAC S66	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
3. Lead Concentrate Pneumatic Conveyer	PROC 230, CNTL C51, STAC S51	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
4. EAF Dust Railcar Unloading	PROC 235, CNTL C56, STAC S56, CNTL C57, STAC S57	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
5. Kiln Feed Conveying System	PROC 245, CNTL C63, STAC S63	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
6. Pneumatic Materials Handling	PROC 246, CNTL C64A– E, STAC S64A-E	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
7. Calcine Kiln Feed Receiving Bin	PROC 248, CNTL C67, STAC S67	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests
8. C2 Conveyer Transfer Point	PROC 234, CNTL C55, STAC S55	Test for filterable PM, using Methods 1-5.	Initial test 3 years from Effective Date; At a frequency of no more than 3 years between subsequent tests

VI. <u>APPROVAL OF DELIVERABLES</u>

- 110. At the time of submittal to EPA of any item requiring EPA approval under this Consent Decree, Defendant shall also submit a copy of said item to PADEP. All written submittals requiring approval under this Consent Decree shall be submitted by email, unless impracticable. After review of any plan, report, or other item that is required to be submitted for EPA approval pursuant to this Consent Decree, EPA after consultation with PADEP, shall in writing: (a) approve the submission; (b) approve the submission and disapprove the remainder; or (d) disapprove the submission.
- 111. If the submission is approved pursuant to Paragraph 110(a), Defendant shall take all actions required by the plan, report, or other document, in accordance with the schedules and requirements of the plan, report, or other document, as approved. If the submission is conditionally approved or approved only in part pursuant to Paragraph 110(b) or (c), Defendant shall, upon written direction from EPA, after consultation with PADEP, take all actions required by the approved plan, report, or other item that EPA, after consultation with PADEP, determines are technically severable from any disapproved portions, subject to Defendant's right to dispute only the specified conditions or the disapproved portions, under Section XII (Dispute

Resolution). If the submission is disapproved in whole or in part pursuant to Paragraph 110(c) or (d), Defendant shall, within forty-five (45) Days or such other time as the Parties agree to in writing, correct all deficiencies and resubmit the plan, report, or other item, or disapproved portion thereof, for approval, in accordance with the preceding Paragraphs. If the resubmission is approved in whole or in part, Defendant shall proceed in accordance with this Paragraph 111.

If a resubmitted plan, report, or other item, or portion thereof, is disapproved in whole or in part, EPA, after consultation with PADEP, may again require Defendant to correct any deficiencies, in accordance with the preceding Paragraphs, or may itself correct any deficiencies, subject to Defendant's right to invoke Dispute Resolution and the right of EPA and PADEP to seek stipulated penalties. Any stipulated penalties applicable to the original submission, as provided in Section X (Stipulated Penalties), shall accrue during the forty-five (45) Day period or other specified period for AZR to correct and resubmit, but shall not be payable unless the resubmission is untimely or is disapproved in whole or in part; provided that, if the original submission was so deficient as to constitute a material breach of Defendant's obligations under this Decree, the stipulated penalties applicable to the original submission shall be due and payable notwithstanding any

subsequent resubmission.

VII. PERMITTING

- 1. <u>Timely, Complete, and Accurate Permit Applications for Compliance Obligations</u>
- Requirements) requires AZR to obtain a federal, state, or local permit or approval, or authorization, AZR shall submit timely, complete, and accurate applications for permits or other authorizations that comply with all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements and take all other actions necessary to obtain all such permits or approvals. If AZR fails to submit a timely, accurate, and complete permit application and timely take all other actions requested by the relevant permitting agency, AZR shall be barred from asserting a claim under Section XI (Force Majeure) of the Consent Decree that is based on delays in receiving necessary permits.
- 114. AZR may seek relief under the provisions of Section XI (Force Majeure) for any delay in the performance of any such obligation resulting from a failure to obtain, or a delay in obtaining, any permit or approval required to fulfill such obligation, if AZR has submitted timely and complete applications and has taken all other actions necessary to obtain all such permits or approvals.
 - 2. Consent Decree Provisions to be Incorporated into Permits and Survive

 Termination of this Consent Decree

- and complete applications to PADEP seeking to incorporate into AZR's NPDES Permit the following requirements of Section V.A. (Clean Water Act Compliance Requirements): sampling in accordance with a representative sampling plan, consistent with the provisions of Paragraph 23, and maintenance and implementation of a SWPPP, consistent with the provisions of Paragraphs 25 and 26.
- 116. No later than forty-five (45) Days after the Effective Date, AZR agrees to modify its current RCRA Permit Application for Permit No. PAD002395887 to include requirements to (a) operate in accordance with the SOP for Truck Washing developed pursuant to Paragraph 72 of this Consent Decree, and (b) review and update this SOP, as appropriate.
- 117. No later than thirty days after completion of the requirements of Paragraphs 58-60, above, AZR agrees to modify its current RCRA Permit Application for Permit No. PAD002395887 to include the Closure Plan, Closure Cost Estimate, and bonding amount documents required by Paragraphs 58-60 of this Consent Decree as part of attachments to the RCRA Permit.
- 118. No later than two years after the Effective Date, AZR shall submit accurate and complete applications to PADEP seeking to incorporate into non-Title V

construction permits, whether as new permits or modifications to existing permits, that are federally enforceable and will survive termination of this Consent Decree, the following requirements of this Consent Decree:

- a. The requirement to operate in accordance with a fugitive dust control plan consistent with the scope and objectives of the Fugitive Dust Control Plan addressed in Paragraph 106, as may be updated including pursuant to Paragraph 107.
- b. The requirement to operate BLDS on the Product Collectors for the Kilns and to record the BLDS sensor output, as set forth in Paragraph 82, and to implement applicable response actions, as set forth in Paragraphs 88-90.
- c. The requirement to maintain each Baghouse within the appropriate pressure drop operating range established in Table 1 in Paragraph 86, as may be adjusted, including pursuant to Paragraph 87.
- d. The requirement to monitor and record pressure drop at each Baghouse, as set forth in Paragraphs 83-84, and to implement applicable response actions as set forth in Paragraphs 88-90.
- e. The requirement to replace Product Collector bags and Baghouse bags at the frequencies determined based on the laboratory assessments performed, and to maintain records of such bag replacements,

- pursuant to Paragraph 91.
- f. The requirement to operate an emergency generator for Kiln #6 and keep maintenance and operational records for such emergency generator, as set forth in Paragraph 109.
- g. The requirement to conduct air emissions testing for CO, PM, and Pb for those sources in Table 1A in accordance with Paragraphs 95 through 102, as applicable, every five (5) years subsequent to the termination of the Consent Decree, with the exception of CO testing on Kiln 1 in Waelzing mode, which is to be conducted in accordance with the schedule required in the Title V permit.
- approval required pursuant to Paragraph 118, above, AZR shall file any application necessary to incorporate the requirements of that permit or approval into the Palmerton Facility's Title V Permit. The Parties agree that the incorporation of the requirements of plan approvals required by Paragraph 118, above, into AZR's Title V Permit shall be in accordance with the applicable federal, State, or local statutes and regulations. AZR shall not challenge the inclusion in the Title V Permit of the requirements expressly prescribed by this Consent Decree.

VIII. TRAINING

- 120. Environmental Compliance Training. Defendant shall provide and require annual training for all AZR employees with environmental responsibilities under this Consent Decree. Training materials shall be developed, and training shall be provided, by qualified personnel. The training shall include all applicable Clean Water Act, Clean Air Act, Oil Pollution Act, and RCRA requirements, including applicable permit requirements, SOPs, plans, and operation and maintenance requirements, under this Consent Decree and all of its appendices. The training shall relate to each employee's responsibilities and shall cover any applicable requirements under this Consent Decree. The training of current employees shall be conducted no later than one hundred twenty (120) Days after the Effective Date. Training of new employees governed by this Paragraph shall be conducted in advance of new employees assuming their duties.
- 121. Contractor and Consultant Training. Defendant shall require, as a condition of any contract for the performance of work at the Facility under this Consent Decree, that the contractor has trained its employees for compliance with the applicable environmental regulations for all work to be performed at the Facility under the contract, and that such training conform with the following requirements.
 - a. The training shall relate to the individual's responsibilities and shall

- cover any applicable requirements under this Consent Decree, including SOPs, plans, and operation and maintenance requirements under this Consent Decree and all of its associated attachments and appendices.
- b. Training materials shall be developed, and training shall be provided, by qualified personnel.
- c. For current contractors, consultants, and laboratory personnel, the training shall be conducted no later than one hundred and twenty
 (120) Days after the Effective Date. For contractors, consultants, and laboratory personnel hired subsequent to lodging of this Consent
 Decree, training shall be conducted in advance of implementation of the contractor's duties.
- d. The contractor shall keep records of such training.
- 122. All training conducted pursuant to Paragraph 120, above, shall be documented with the date of training, list of attendees, a summary of training topics, and copies of training materials. Such documentation, exclusive of copies of training materials (except as provided in this Paragraph 122), shall be included in the next semi-annual report submitted after completion of the training session(s). Copies of training materials shall be submitted one time only with the second semi-annual report required to

be submitted pursuant to Paragraph 124 of this Consent Decree. The date on which Defendant completes the initial training shall be known as the "Training Anniversary." During each calendar year, Defendant shall ensure that refresher training is performed within thirty (30) Days of the Training Anniversary.

123. Nothing in this Consent Decree shall be construed to affect Defendant's obligations to provide training to the extent otherwise required under federal, state, or local statutes, regulations, or permits.

IX. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

- 124. By July 31st and January 31st of each year after the Effective Date of this Consent Decree, until termination of this Decree pursuant to Section XX, Defendant shall submit by electronic mail or regular mail, to EPA and PADEP, a semi-annual report for the preceding six (6) months that shall include a detailed description of the following actions under this Consent Decree:
 - a. The status of any construction or compliance measures;
 - b. completion of milestones;
 - c. problems encountered or anticipated, together with implemented or proposed solutions;
 - d. reports of upcoming deadlines for the following year, including anticipated issues, and explanations, meeting any such deadlines;

- e. status of permit applications;
- f. operation and maintenance activities undertaken during the reporting period and planned for the next six (6) months; and
- g. any reports submitted to state permitting agencies pertaining to compliance with this Consent Decree.
- 125. The semi-annual report shall also include a description of any non-compliance with the requirements of this Consent Decree and an explanation of the likely cause and of the remedial steps taken, or to be taken, to prevent or minimize such noncompliance.
- 126. If Defendant violates, or has reason to believe that it may violate, any requirement of this Consent Decree, Defendant shall notify the United States, EPA, and PADEP of such violation and its likely duration, in writing, within ten (10) business days of the date Defendant first becomes aware of the violation, with an explanation of the violation's likely cause and of the remedial steps taken, or to be taken, to prevent or minimize such violation. If the cause of a violation cannot be fully explained at the time the report is due, Defendant shall so state in the report. Defendant shall investigate the cause of the violation and shall then submit an amendment to the report, including a full explanation of the cause of the violation, within thirty (30) Days of the date Defendant becomes aware of the cause of the violation.

 Nothing in this Paragraph 126 or the following Paragraph 127 relieves

- Defendant of its obligation to provide the notice required by Section XI (Force Majeure).
- 127. Whenever any violation of this Consent Decree may pose an immediate threat to the public health or welfare or the environment, Defendant shall notify EPA and PADEP orally or by email as soon as practicable, but no later than 24 hours after Defendant first knew of the violation. This procedure is in addition to the requirements set forth in the preceding Paragraph 126.
- 128. Any report required to be submitted pursuant to this Consent Decree shall be submitted to the persons designated in Section XVI (Notices).
- 129. Each report submitted by Defendant under this Section shall be signed by an official of the submitting party and include the following certification:

I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I have no personal knowledge that the information submitted is other than true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations.

This certification requirement does not apply to emergency or similar notifications where compliance would be impractical.

- 130. The reporting requirements of this Consent Decree do not relieve Defendant of any reporting obligations imposed by the CAA, CWA, RCRA, SDWA, or EPCRA or implementing regulations, or by any other federal, state, or local law, regulation, permit, or other requirement.
- 131. Any information provided pursuant to this Consent Decree may be used by the United States in any proceeding to enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree and as otherwise permitted by law.

X. <u>STIPULATED PENALTIES</u>

132. Defendant shall be liable for stipulated penalties to the United States and PADEP for violations of this Consent Decree as specified below, unless excused under Section XI (Force Majeure).

Table 2

Consent	Summary Statement of Consent	Penalty
Decree	Decree Requirement	
Paragraph		
Number		
IV	Payment of the civil penalty required to	
	be paid when due	\$3,000 Per Day
5	For failure to comply with the Transfer	Per Day:
	of Ownership or Operation	\$1,000 1st through 14th Day
	Requirements	\$2,000 15th through 30th Day
		\$4,000 31st Day and beyond
18	For failure to timely submit a Scope of	Per Day:
	Work for the investigation of the	\$500 1st through 14th Day
	Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-	\$1,000 15th through 30th Day
	Contact Cooling water systems	\$2,000 31st Day and beyond

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
19	For failure to commence implementation of the Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Systems SOW following EPA's approval	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
21	For failure to timely submit an Investigation Report	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
22	For failure to timely commence implementation of the corrective measures contained in the Investigation Report	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
23	For failure to timely submit Representative Sampling Plan	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
24	For failure to timely commence implementation of the Representative Sampling Plan, within ten days of receipt of EPA's approval	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
25	For failure to timely implement a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
26	For failure to timely submit updated SWPPP	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
34	For failure to timely submit an Infiltration Investigation Report after EPA's approval of the Stormwater, Process Water, and Non-Contact Cooling Water Investigation Report	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
35	For failure to commence implementation, if necessary, of the UIC Management Plan	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
36	For failure to timely submit to EPA a Final UIC Report, or revised Final UIC report, if so required	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
39	Failure to timely provide documentation to EPA that AZR has revised and/or corrected the Palmerton Facility's Integrated Preparedness, Prevention, and Contingency Plan (ICP) in compliance with the requirements under 40 C.F.R. Part 112, and as required by Paragraph 39	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
40	For failure to comply with the requirements relating to introducing hazardous waste into the Waelzing or Calcining Kilns in accordance with Paragraph 40	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
41 - 44	For failure to manage Lead Concentrate in accordance with Paragraphs 41-44	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
46(a)–(e)	For failure to implement the requirements for the PD Station	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
47	Failure to have a qualified, registered third-party Professional Engineer perform an inspection of the EAF Dust storage and truck wash building known as Building 608 and Building 624 to	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
	ensure compliance with the Containment Building Requirements	
48	For failure to timely submit the PE Report	\$1,000 Per Day
48(a)	For failure to timely implement the PE Report recommendations	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
48(b)	For failure to timely submit PE determination following re-inspection	\$1,000 Per Day
48(b)	For failure to implement additional work pursuant to the PE's determination	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
48(c)	For failure to timely submit PE certification	\$1,000 Per Day
49	For failure to timely submit Annual Inspection Report	\$1,000 Per Day
50(a)	For failure to timely submit Consultant's Inspection Report	\$1,000 Per Day
50(b)	For failure to timely implement the Consultant's Inspection Report recommendations	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
50(c)	For failure to timely submit Consultant determination following re-inspection	\$1,000 Per Day
50(c)	For failure to implement additional work pursuant to the Consultant's determination	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
50(d)	For failure to timely submit Consultant certification	\$1,000 Per Day
53, 55	For failure to store CZO in accordance with Paragraph 53 or 55;	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
		\$4,000 31st Day and beyond
57	For failure to store Calcine Feed Materials in accordance with Paragraph 57	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
58	For failure to timely obtain a third-party determination for closure cost	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
58	For failure to timely submit Closure Cost Estimate	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
59	For failure to comply with the closure bond requirements in accordance with Paragraph 59	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
60	For failure to timely submit Closure Plan	\$1,500 Per Day
61	For failure to store hazardous waste Kiln rubble and Kiln brick in accordance with 25 Pa. Code § 262a.10 which incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. § 262.34 (re-codified as 40 C.F.R. § 262.17).	Per Day: \$500 per day
62	Failure to post signs on the Lime Bunker prohibiting, at all times, the storage of hazardous waste, including hazardous waste Kiln rubble and Kiln brick on the ground in the Lime Bunker.	\$500 for initial violation, then \$1000 per 30-Day period thereafter
63	Failure to conduct and document weekly inspections of the Lime Bunker in accordance with 40 C.F.R. § 265.173 for any week in which hazardous waste is stored in containers as that term is	Per Day: \$500 per day

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
	defined by 25 Pa Code § 260a.1 which incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. § 260.10 within the Lime Bunker.	
64	For failure post hours of operation at the Facility entrances	\$500 for initial violation, then \$500 per 30-Day period thereafter
65	For failure to timely submit Iron Rich Material Management Plan	\$1,000 Per Day
65	For failure to timely implement the Iron Rich Material Management Plan	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
66	For failure to timely submit IRM Pad Regulatory Justification	\$1,000 Per Day
68	For failure to operate and maintain the IRM Storage Building in accordance with the requirements of 25 Pa. Code Chapter 299.	\$500 Per Day
70	For failure to timely submit the PD Station SOP	\$1,000 Per Day
70	For failure to implement the PD Station SOP	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
71, 73, 74	For failure to implement the requirements for the Truck Wash	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
72	For failure to timely submit the Truck Washing SOP	\$1,000 Per Day
72	For failure to implement the Truck Washing SOP	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
76	Failure to retain all video recordings required by Paragraphs 71 and 72, above, for each truck leaving the Truck Wash Building 624 for at least ninety (90) Days from the time each truck leaves the Truck Wash Building 624.	\$500 Per Day
77	For failure to timely submit Storage Pile Removal Plan	\$1,000 Per Day
77	For failure to timely implement the Storage Pile Removal Plan following EPA's approval	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
78	Failure to annually update the SOPs and plans	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
79	For failure to timely submit Settling Basin Regulatory Justification	\$1,000 Per Day
79	For failure to timely implement the Settling Basins Regulatory Justification	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
80-81	For failure to perform parametric monitoring in accordance with Paragraph 80	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
80-81	For failure to perform recordkeeping in accordance with Paragraph 80	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
81	For failure to install scales on the Kilns to determine feed rate, in accordance with Paragraph 81	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
82	For failure to install BLDS on the Product Collectors for the Kilns in accordance with Paragraph 82	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
82	For failure to operate the BLDS on the Product Collectors for the Kilns in accordance with Paragraph 82	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
83-84	For failure to monitor pressure drop at each Baghouse in accordance with Paragraphs 83-84	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
83-84	For failure to record pressure drop for each Baghouse in accordance with Paragraphs 83-84	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
86-87	For failure to maintain each Baghouse within the appropriate pressure drop operating range established in Table 1 in Paragraph 86, or any alternative pressure drop operating range in accordance with Paragraph 87	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
88	Failure to take corrective action in accordance with Paragraph 88	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
90	Failure to maintain records of each pressure drop excursion or BLDS alarm, in accordance with Paragraph 90	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
90	For failure to correct an excursion from the applicable pressure drop operating range for an affected Baghouse or correct a leak at an affected Product Collector bag, or, alternatively, to shut	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
	down the relevant air contamination source within seventy-two (72) hours of when the system first identifies an excursion outside the applicable pressure drop operating range or the BLDS alarm sounds, in accordance with Paragraph 91	
90	For failure to notify EPA and PADEP within twenty-four (24) hours of the end of the 72-hour period provided for responsive actions in accordance with Paragraph 91	\$500 Per Day
91	For failure to commission laboratory assessments of the Product Collector bags or the Baghouse bags in accordance with Paragraph 92	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
91	For failure to replace the Product Collector bags or the Baghouse bags based on the appropriate replacement frequencies determined by the laboratory assessments	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
92	For failure to submit to EPA and PADEP required information prior to installation of any new Baghouse or Product Collector in accordance with Paragraph 93	\$500 Per Day
93	Failure to keep the current list of Baghouses and their associated pressure drop ranges at the Facility	Per Day:\$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
94	For failure to operate COMS on the Kilns in accordance with Paragraph 94	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond

Consent Decree Paragraph Number	Summary Statement of Consent Decree Requirement	Penalty
95	For failure to timely submit an Emissions Test protocol to EPA and PADEP	\$500 Per Day
96-101	For failure to complete an Emissions Test in accordance with any requirement of Paragraphs 96-101	\$1,000 Per Day
102	For failure to submit an Emissions Test report in accordance with any requirement of Paragraph 103	\$500 Per Day
103	For failure to collect monthly composite samples of WOx, IRM, Zinc Calcine, and Lead Chloride following completion of the initial Emissions Test for each Kiln in accordance with Paragraph 103	\$1,000 Per Day
104	For failure to submit by March 1 of each year information, documentation, and calculations for the determination of total Facility-wide annual emissions in accordance with Paragraph 104	\$500 Per Day
105	Failure to keep records of the emission calculations in accordance with Section V.C. of this Consent Decree (Clean Air Act Compliance Requirements), including all supporting documentation, in accordance with Paragraph 105	Per Day: \$500 1st through 14th Day \$1,000 15th through 30th Day \$2,000 31st Day and beyond
106	For failure to implement the FDCP	\$1000 Per Day
109	For failure to install and operate an Emergency Generator for Kiln #6 in accordance with Paragraph 109	Per Day: \$1,000 1st through 14th Day \$2,000 15th through 30th Day \$4,000 31st Day and beyond
115 - 119	For failure to submit permit applications or modifications in accordance with Paragraphs 115-119	\$500 Per Day, Per Violation

Consent	Summary Statement of Consent	Penalty
Decree	Decree Requirement	
Paragraph		
Number		
VIII	For failure to satisfy requirements	\$1,000, Per Individual
	applicable to training	
IX	Violation of the semi-annual reporting	\$500 Per Day
	requirements included Section IX	

- 133. Stipulated penalties under this Section shall begin to accrue on the Day after performance is due or on the Day a violation occurs, whichever is applicable, and shall continue to accrue until performance is satisfactorily completed or until the violation ceases.
- 134. Stipulated penalties shall accrue simultaneously for separate violations of this Consent Decree.
- within thirty (30) Days of receiving a written demand by either Plaintiff.

 Defendant shall pay fifty (50) percent of the total stipulated penalty amount due to the United States and fifty (50) percent to the State. The Plaintiff making a demand for payment of a stipulated penalty shall simultaneously send a copy of the demand to the other Plaintiff.
- 136. Either Plaintiff may in the unreviewable exercise of its discretion, reduce or waive stipulated penalties otherwise due it under this Consent Decree.
- 137. Stipulated penalties shall continue to accrue as provided in Paragraph 156 during any Dispute Resolution, but need not be paid until the following:

- a. If the dispute is resolved by agreement of the Parties or by a decision of either Plaintiff that is not appealed to the Court, Defendant shall pay accrued penalties determined to be owed, together with interest, to the United States or PADEP within thirty (30) Days of the effective date of the agreement or the receipt of EPA's or PADEP's decision or order.
- b. If the dispute is appealed to the Court and the United States or the PADEP prevails in whole or in part, Defendant shall pay all accrued penalties determined by the Court to be owed, together with interest, within sixty (60) Days of receiving the Court's decision or order, except as provided in subparagraph c., below.
- c. If any Party appeals the District Court's decision, Defendant shall pay all accrued penalties determined to be owed, together with interest, within fifteen (15) Days of receiving the final appellate court decision.
- Obligations Prior to the Effective Date. Upon the Effective Date, the stipulated penalty provisions of this Decree shall be retroactively enforceable with regard to the obligations stated in Paragraphs 42.d., 43, 44, 46.a., and 61-64 of this Consent Decree, which are required to be performed prior to the Effective Date, provided that stipulated penalties that may have accrued prior to the Effective Date may not be collected unless and until this Consent Decree is entered by the Court.
- 139. Defendant shall pay stipulated penalties owed to the United States in the manner set forth and with the confirmation notices required by Paragraphs 12-14, of this Consent Decree, except that the transmittal letter shall state

that the payment is for stipulated penalties and shall state for which violation(s) the penalties are being paid. Defendant shall pay stipulated penalties owed to the State by corporate check or similar instrument made payable to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, and addressed to: 2 Public Square, Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915.

- 140. If Defendant fails to pay stipulated penalties according to the terms of this Consent Decree, Defendant shall be liable for interest on such penalties, as provided for in 28 U.S.C. § 1961, accruing as of the date payment became due. Nothing in this Paragraph shall be construed to limit the United States or the State from seeking any remedy otherwise provided by law for Defendant's failure to pay any stipulated penalties.
- 141. The payment of penalties and interest, if any, shall not alter in any way

 Defendant's obligation to complete the performance of the requirements of
 this Consent Decree.
- 142. Non-Exclusivity of Remedy. Stipulated penalties are not the United States' exclusive remedy for violations of this Consent Decree. Subject to the provisions of Section XIV (Effect of Settlement/Reservation of Rights), the United States expressly reserves the right to seek any other relief it deems appropriate for Defendant's violation of this Consent Decree or applicable

law, including but not limited to an action against Defendant for statutory penalties, additional injunctive relief, mitigation or offset measures, and/or contempt. However, the amount of any statutory penalty assessed for a violation of this Consent Decree shall be reduced by an amount equal to the amount of any stipulated penalty assessed and paid pursuant to this Consent Decree.

XI. FORCE MAJEURE

- 143. "Force majeure," for purposes of this Consent Decree, is defined as any event arising from causes beyond the control of Defendant, of any entity controlled by Defendant, or of Defendant's contractors that delays or prevents the performance of any obligation under this Consent Decree despite Defendant's best efforts to fulfill the obligation. The requirement that Defendant exercise "best efforts to fulfill the obligation" includes using best efforts to anticipate any potential force majeure event and best efforts to address the effects of any potential force majeure event (a) as it is occurring and (b) following the potential force majeure, such that the delay and any adverse effects of the delay are minimized. "Force Majeure" does not include Defendant's financial inability to perform any obligation under this Consent Decree.
- 144. If any event occurs or has occurred that may delay the performance of any

obligation under this Consent Decree, whether or not caused by a force majeure event, Defendant shall provide notice orally and by electronic mail to EPA and PADEP, to the persons listed in Notices, Section XVI, within seven (7) days of when Defendant first knew that the event might cause a delay. Within fifteen (15) Days thereafter, Defendant shall provide in writing to EPA and PADEP an explanation and description of the reasons for the delay; the anticipated duration of the delay; all actions taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay; a schedule for implementation of any measures to be taken to prevent or mitigate the delay or the effect of the delay; Defendant's rationale for attributing such delay to a force majeure event if it intends to assert such a claim; and a statement as to whether, in the opinion of Defendant, such event may cause or contribute to an endangerment to public health, welfare or the environment. Defendant shall include with any notice all available documentation supporting the claim that the delay was attributable to a force majeure. Failure to comply with the above requirements shall preclude Defendant from asserting any claim of force majeure for that event for the period of time of such failure to comply, and for any additional delay caused by such failure. Defendant shall be deemed to know of any circumstance of which Defendant, any entity controlled by Defendant, or Defendant's contractors, knew or should have

known.

- 145. If EPA, after a reasonable opportunity for review and comment by PADEP, agrees that the delay or anticipated delay is attributable to a force majeure event, the time for performance of the obligations under this Consent Decree that are affected by the force majeure event will be extended by EPA, after a reasonable opportunity for review and comment by PADEP, for such time as is necessary to complete those obligations. An extension of the time for performance of the obligations affected by the force majeure event shall not, of itself, extend the time for performance of any other obligation. EPA will notify Defendant in writing of the length of the extension, if any, for performance of the obligations affected by the force majeure event.
- 146. If EPA, after a reasonable opportunity for review and comment by PADEP, does not agree that the delay or anticipated delay has been or will be caused by a force majeure event, EPA will notify Defendant in writing of EPA's decision.
- 147. If Defendant elects to invoke the dispute resolution procedures set forth in Section XII (Dispute Resolution) in regard to a force majeure event, it shall do so no later than thirty (30) Days after receipt of EPA's notice. In any such proceeding, Defendant shall have the burden of demonstrating by a preponderance of the evidence that the delay or anticipated delay has been or

will be caused by a force majeure event, that the duration of the delay or the extension sought was or will be warranted under the circumstances, that best efforts were exercised to avoid and mitigate the effects of the delay, and that Defendant complied with the requirements of Paragraphs 143 and 144 of this Consent Decree. If Defendant carries this burden, the delay at issue shall be deemed not to be a violation by Defendant of the affected obligation of this Consent Decree identified to EPA and the Court.

XII. <u>DISPUTE RESOLUTION</u>

- 148. Unless otherwise expressly provided for in this Consent Decree, the dispute resolution procedures of this Section shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve disputes arising under or with respect to this Consent Decree.

 Defendant's failure to seek resolution of a dispute under this Section shall preclude Defendant from raising any such issue as a defense to an action by the United States or PADEP to enforce any obligation of Defendant arising under this Consent Decree.
- 149. <u>Informal Dispute Resolution</u>. Any dispute subject to Dispute Resolution under this Consent Decree shall first be the subject of informal negotiations among the disputing parties. The dispute shall be considered to have arisen when Defendant sends the United States, EPA, and PADEP a written Notice of Dispute. Such Notice of Dispute shall state clearly the matter in dispute.

The period of informal negotiations shall not exceed sixty (60) Days from the date the dispute arises, unless that period is modified by written agreement. If the Parties cannot resolve a dispute by informal negotiations, then the position advanced by the United States shall be considered binding unless, within sixty (60) Days after the conclusion of the informal negotiation period, Defendant invokes formal dispute resolution procedures as set forth below.

- 150. <u>Formal Dispute Resolution</u>. Defendant shall invoke formal dispute resolution procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding Paragraph, by serving on the United States, EPA, and PADEP a written Statement of Position regarding the matter in dispute. The Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting Defendant's position and any supporting documentation relied upon by Defendant.
- Days of receipt of Defendant's Statement of Position. The United States'

 Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis, or opinion supporting that position and any supporting documentation relied upon by the United States. The United States'

 Statement of Position shall be binding on Defendant, unless Defendant files

- a motion for judicial review of the dispute in accordance with the following Paragraph.
- and serving on the United States, EPA, and PADEP, in accordance with Section XVI (Notices), a motion requesting judicial resolution of the dispute. The motion must be filed within forty-five (45) Days of receipt of the United States' Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding Paragraph. The motion shall contain a written statement of Defendant's position on the matter in dispute, including any supporting factual data, analysis, opinion, or documentation, and shall set forth the relief requested and any schedule within which the dispute must be resolved for orderly implementation of the Consent Decree.
- 153. The United States shall respond to Defendant's motion within the time period allowed by the Local Rules of this Court. Defendant may file a reply memorandum, to the extent Permitted by the Local Rules.
- 154. Standard of Review. Disputes Concerning Matters Accorded Record

 Review. Except as otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in any
 dispute brought under Paragraph 150 pertaining to the adequacy or
 appropriateness of plans, procedures to implement plans, schedules or any
 other items requiring approval by EPA under this Consent Decree; the

adequacy of the performance of work undertaken pursuant to this Consent Decree; and all other disputes that are accorded review on the administrative record under applicable principles of administrative law, Defendant shall have the burden of demonstrating, based on the administrative record, that the position of the United States is arbitrary and capricious or otherwise not in accordance with law.

- 155. <u>Standard of Review. Other Disputes</u>. Except as otherwise provided in this Consent Decree, in any other dispute brought under Paragraph 150,

 Defendant shall bear the burden of demonstrating that its position complies with this Consent Decree.
- 156. The invocation of dispute resolution procedures under this Section shall not, by itself, extend, postpone, or affect in any way any obligation of Defendant under this Consent Decree, unless and until final resolution of the dispute so provides. Stipulated penalties with respect to the disputed matter shall continue to accrue from the first Day of noncompliance, but payment shall be stayed pending resolution of the dispute as provided in Paragraph 137. If Defendant does not prevail on the disputed issue, stipulated penalties shall be assessed and paid as provided in Section X (Stipulated Penalties).

XIII. ACCESS, INFORMATION COLLECTION AND RETENTION

157. The United States, PADEP, and their representatives, including attorneys,

contractors, and consultants, shall have the right of entry into the Palmerton, at all reasonable times, upon presentation of credentials, to:

- a. monitor the progress of activities required under this Consent Decree;
- b. verify any data or information submitted to the United States or PADEP in accordance with the terms of this Consent Decree;
- c. obtain samples and, upon request, splits of any samples taken by Defendant or its representatives, contractors, or consultants related to Defendant's obligations under this Consent Decree;
- d. obtain documentary evidence, including photographs and similar data relevant to the terms of this Consent Decree; and
- e. assess Defendant's compliance with this Consent Decree.

Nothing herein limits or affects the government authorities expressed in Paragraph.

- 158. Upon request, Defendant shall provide EPA and PADEP or their authorized representatives with splits of any samples taken by Defendant. Upon request, EPA and PADEP shall provide Defendant splits of any samples taken by EPA or PADEP.
- 159. Until three (3) years after the termination of this Consent Decree, Defendant shall retain, and shall instruct its contractors and agents to preserve, all non-identical copies of all documents, records, or other information (including documents, records, or other information in electronic form) in its or its contractors' or agents' possession or control, or that come into its or its contractors' or agents' possession or control, and that relate in any manner to

Defendant's performance of its obligations under this Consent Decree. This information-retention requirement shall apply regardless of any contrary corporate or institutional policies or procedures. This retention requirement does not apply to voicemail or text messages, so long as those forms of communication are not used for substantive discussions concerning compliance with this Consent Decree. At any time during this information-retention period, upon request by the United States or PADEP, Defendant shall provide copies of any documents, records, or other information required to be maintained under this Paragraph.

160. Defendant may assert that certain documents, records, or other information is privileged under the attorney-client privilege or any other privilege recognized by federal law. If Defendant asserts such a privilege, it shall provide the following: (a) the title of the document, record, or information; (b) the date of the document, record, or information; (c) the name and title of each author of the document, record, or information; (d) the name and title of each addressee and recipient; (e) a description of the subject of the document, record, or information; and (f) the privilege asserted by Defendant. However, no documents, records, or other information created or generated pursuant to the requirements of this Consent Decree shall be withheld on grounds of privilege.

- 161. Except for emissions data, Defendant may also assert that information required to be provided under this Section is protected as Confidential Business Information ("CBI") under 40 C.F.R. Part 2. As to any information that Defendant seeks to protect as CBI, Defendant shall follow the procedures set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 2 and 35 P.S. § 4013.2.
- 162. This Consent Decree in no way limits or affects any right of entry and inspection, or any right to obtain information, held by the United States or PADEP pursuant to applicable federal or state laws, regulations, or Permits, nor does it limit or affect any duty or obligation of Defendant to maintain documents, records, or other information imposed by applicable federal or state laws, regulations, or Permits.

XIV. EFFECT OF SETTLEMENT/RESERVATION OF RIGHTS

- 163. This Consent Decree resolves the civil claims of the United States and PADEP for the violations alleged in the Complaint through the Date of Lodging of this Consent Decree.
- 164. The United States and PADEP reserve all legal and equitable remedies available to enforce the provisions of this Consent Decree. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to limit the rights of the United States or PADEP to obtain penalties or injunctive relief under the CAA, CWA, SDWA, RCRA, and EPCRA or implementing regulations, or under other

federal or state laws, regulations, or Permit conditions. The United States and PADEP further reserve all legal and equitable remedies to address any imminent and substantial endangerment to the public health or welfare or the environment arising at, or posed by, the Palmerton Facility, whether related to the violations addressed in this Consent Decree or otherwise.

- 165. In any subsequent administrative or judicial proceeding initiated by the

 United States or PADEP for injunctive relief, civil penalties, other
 appropriate relief relating to the Palmerton Facility, Defendant shall not
 assert, and may not maintain, any defense or claim based upon the principles
 of waiver, res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim
 preclusion, claim-splitting, or other defenses based upon any contention that
 the claims raised by the United States or PADEP in the subsequent
 proceeding were or should have been brought in the instant case, except with
 respect to claims that have been specifically resolved pursuant to Paragraph
 163.
- 166. This Consent Decree is not a Permit, or a modification of any Permit, under any federal, State, or local laws or regulations. Defendant is responsible for achieving and maintaining compliance with all applicable federal, State, and local laws, regulations, and Permits; and Defendant's compliance with this Consent Decree shall be no defense to any action commenced pursuant to

any such laws, regulations, or Permits, except as set forth herein. The United States and PADEP do not, by their consent to the entry of this Consent Decree, warrant or aver in any manner that Defendant's compliance with any aspect of this Consent Decree will result in compliance with provisions of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 *et seq.*, RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6928 *et seq.*, or the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 *et seq.*, or with any other provisions of federal, State, or local laws, regulations, or Permits.

- 167. This Consent Decree does not limit or affect the rights of Defendant or of the United States or PADEP against any third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, nor does it limit the rights of third parties, not party to this Consent Decree, against Defendant, except as otherwise provided by law.
- 168. Nothing in this Consent Decree is intended to limit or disqualify Defendant, on the grounds that information was not discovered and supplied voluntarily, from seeking to apply EPA's and/or PADEP's audit policy to any violations or non-compliance that Defendant discovers during the course of any enhanced monitoring that Defendant is required to undertake pursuant to this Consent Decree.
- 169. This Consent Decree shall not be construed to create rights in, or grant any cause of action to, any third party not party to this Consent Decree.

XV. COSTS

170. The Parties shall bear their own costs of this action, including attorneys' fees, except that the United States and PADEP shall be entitled to collect the costs (including attorneys' fees) incurred in any action necessary to collect any portion of the civil penalty or any stipulated penalties due but not paid by Defendant.

XVI. NOTICES

171. Unless otherwise specified in this Consent Decree, whenever notifications, submissions, or communications are required by this Consent Decree, they shall be made in writing and addressed as follows:

As to the United States by mail:

EES Case Management Unit Environment and Natural Resources Division U.S. Department of Justice P.O. Box 7611 Washington, D.C. 20044-7611 Re: DJ # 90-11-3-11529/1

As to EPA by mail:

Joyce Howell
Senior Assistant Regional Counsel
Office of Regional Counsel (3RC40)
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency - Region III
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103-2029
Howell.joyce@epa.gov
215-814-2644

As to EPA by email:

Serfass.rebecca@epa.gov; Isin.amelie@epa.gov; **and** Trakis.lisa@epa.gov

As to PADEP by email:

aschweitze@pa.gov; dearitter@pa.gov; **and** pmusinski@pa.gov

As to PADEP by mail:

Sean L. Robbins Assistant Counsel PADEP Northeast Regional Office 2 Public Square Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915

Andrew Schweitzer Environmental Group Manager Air Quality Program PADEP Northeast Regional Office 2 Public Square Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915

As to AZR by email:

tbasilone@azr.com gwhitaker@azr.com mfoster@azr.com jfalko@azr.com kvaccaro@mankogold.com rbender@mankogold.com

As to AZR by mail:

Vice President – Environmental Affairs American Zinc Recycling Corp. 3000 GSK Drive Suite 201 Moon Township, PA 15108

Office of General Counsel American Zinc Recycling Corp. 3000 GSK Drive, Suite 201 Moon Township, PA 15108

Any Party may, by written notice to the other Parties, change its designated notice recipient or notice address provided above.

172. Notices submitted pursuant to this Section shall be deemed submitted upon mailing, unless otherwise provided in this Consent Decree or by mutual agreement of the Parties in writing.

XVII. EFFECTIVE DATE

173. The Effective Date of this Consent Decree shall be the date upon which this

Consent Decree is entered by the Court or a motion to enter the Consent

Decree is granted, whichever occurs first, as recorded on the Court's docket;

provided, however, that Defendant hereby agrees that it shall be bound to perform duties scheduled to occur prior to the Effective Date. In the event the United States withdraws or withholds consent to this Consent Decree before entry, or the Court declines to enter the Consent Decree, then the preceding requirement to perform duties scheduled to occur before the Effective Date shall terminate.

XVIII.RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

174. The Court shall retain jurisdiction over this case until termination of this Consent Decree, for the purpose of resolving disputes arising under this Decree or entering orders modifying this Decree, pursuant to Sections XII and XX, or effectuating or enforcing compliance with the terms of this Decree.

XIX. MODIFICATION

- 175. The terms of this Consent Decree, including any attached appendices, may be modified only by a subsequent written agreement signed by all the Parties. Where the modification constitutes a material change to this Decree, it shall be effective only upon approval by the Court.
- 176. Non-material modifications to this Consent Decree, including mutually agreed modifications to the content and frequency of reports required to be submitted to EPA and PADEP pursuant to this Consent Decree, shall be in

- writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of AZR and the United States, EPA, and PADEP, but need not be filed with the Court to be effective.
- 177. Any disputes concerning modification of this Consent Decree shall be resolved pursuant to Section XII (Dispute Resolution), provided, however, that, instead of the burden of proof provided by Paragraph 154 or 155, the Party seeking the modification bears the burden of demonstrating that it is entitled to the requested modification in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b).

XX. <u>TERMINATION</u>

- 178. Defendant may seek termination of this Consent Decree by serving upon the
 United States and PADEP a Request for Termination. The Request for
 Termination must state that Defendant has satisfied the requirements of the
 Consent Decree as specified in this Paragraph and shall include necessary
 supporting documentation. In order to seek termination of the Consent
 Decree pursuant to this Paragraph, Defendant shall have completed the
 following requirements:
 - a. Initial compliance with the requirements specified in
 Section V (Compliance Requirements), except that
 Defendant shall complete two (2) Emission Tests for each

- source required to conduct at least two (2) Emissions Tests under this Consent Decree;
- b. Payment of the civil penalty and any accrued stipulated
 penalties as required by this Consent Decree; and
- c. Maintaining satisfactory compliance with this Consent

 Decree for period of five (5) years following the Effective

 Date.
- 179. Following receipt by the United States and PADEP of Defendant's Request for Termination, the Parties shall confer informally concerning the Request and any disagreement that the Parties may have as to whether Defendant has satisfactorily complied with the requirements for termination of this Consent Decree. If the United States, after consultation with PADEP, agrees that the Decree may be terminated, the Parties shall submit, for the Court's approval, a joint stipulation terminating the Decree.
- 180. If the United States, after consultation with PADEP, does not agree that the Decree may be terminated, Defendant may invoke Dispute Resolution under Section XII. However, Defendant shall not seek Dispute Resolution of any dispute regarding termination until 60 Days after service of its Request for Termination.

XXI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

181. This Consent Decree shall be lodged with the Court for a period of not less than thirty (30) Days for public notice and comment in accordance with 28 C.F.R. § 50.7. The United States reserves the right to withdraw or withhold its consent if the comments regarding the Consent Decree disclose facts or considerations indicating that the Consent Decree is inappropriate, improper, or inadequate. Defendant consents to entry of this Consent Decree without further notice and agrees not to withdraw from or oppose entry of this Consent Decree by the Court or to challenge any provision of the Decree, unless the United States has notified Defendant in writing that it no longer supports entry of the Decree.

XXII. SIGNATORIES/SERVICE

- 182. Each undersigned representative of Defendant, and the Assistant Attorney
 General for the Environment and Natural Resources Division of the
 Department of Justice, and the Regional Director of the Northeast Regional
 Office of the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection,
 certifies that he or she is fully authorized to enter into the terms and
 conditions of this Consent Decree and to execute and legally bind the Party
 he or she represents to this document.
- 183. This Consent Decree may be signed in counterparts, and its validity shall not

be challenged on that basis. Defendant agrees to accept service of process by mail with respect to all matters arising under or relating to this Consent Decree and to waive the formal service requirements set forth in Rules 4 and 5 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any applicable Local Rules of this Court including, but not limited to, service of a summons. Defendant need not file an answer to the complaint in this action unless or until the Court expressly declines to enter this Consent Decree.

XXIII.<u>INTEGRATION</u>

184. This Consent Decree constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive agreement and understanding among the Parties with respect to the settlement embodied in the Decree and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, concerning the settlement embodied herein, including the 1995 Consent Decree. The Parties acknowledge that there are no representations, agreements, or understandings relating to the settlement other than those expressly contained in this Consent Decree.

XXIV. FINAL JUDGMENT

185. Upon approval and entry of this Consent Decree by the Court, this Consent Decree shall constitute a final judgment of the Court as to the United States, PADEP, and Defendant. The Court finds that there is no just reason for delay and therefore enters this judgment as a final judgment under Fed. R.

Civ. P. 54 and 58.

XXV. 26 U.S.C. SECTION 162(f)(2)(a)(ii) IDENTIFICATION

186. For purposes of the identification requirement of Section 162(f)(2)(A)(ii) of the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 162(f)(2)(A)(ii), performance of Section II (Applicability), Paragraphs 4-9; Section V (Compliance Requirements) Paragraphs 18-109; Section IX (Reporting Requirements), Paragraphs 124-131; and Section XIII (Access, Information Collection and Retention), Paragraphs 157-162, is restitution or required to come into compliance with law.

XXVI. APPENDICES

187. The following Appendices are attached to and part of this Consent Decree:

Appendix A is the Palmerton Facility Fugitive Dust Control Plan

Appendix B is the site map of the Palmerton Facility

Appendix C is the SWPPP

Appendix D is a diagram depicting the aisle space requirements

Appendix E is the list of RCRA closure areas and components

Dated and entered this __ Day of _____, 2020

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

FOR THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA:

Date: ___ January 19, 2021

Bruce Gelber BRUCE S. GELBER

Deputy Assistant Attorney General

Environment and Natural Resources Division

U.S. Department of Justice

Date: 1/19/21

JOHN SITHER

Senior Attorney

Environmental Enforcement Section

Environment & Natural Resources Division

U.S. Department of Justice

P.O. Box 7611

Washington, D.C. 20530

202-514-3475

John.Sither@usdoj.gov

BRUCE D. BRANDLER

Acting United States Attorney

Middle District of Pennsylvania

Date: 1/8/21

SAMUEL DALKE

Assistant United States Attorney Middle District of Pennsylvania

Harrisburg Federal Building and Courthouse

228 Walnut Street, Suite 220

P.O. Box 11754

Harrisburg, PA 17108-1754

FOR THE U.S. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY:

/s/ Cosmo Servidio
COSMO SERVIDIO
Regional Administrator
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Region 3
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029

/s/ Cecil Rodrigues
CECIL RODRIGUES
Regional Counsel
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Region 3
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029

/s/ Karen Melvin
KAREN MELVIN
Director, Enforcement Division
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Region 3
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029

/2-22-2 d
Date

SUSAN PARKER BODINE

Assistant Administrator

Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Washington, DC 20460

FOR PLAINTIFF COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION:

///4/2021 Date

MICHAEL D. BEDRIN

Regional Director

PA Department of Environmental Protection

Northeast Regional Office

2 Public Square

Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915

mbedrin@pa.gov

1/10/2021 Date

DIANA J. STARES

Acting Chief Counsel

PA Department of Environmental Protection

Rachel Carson State Office Building

400 Market Street

Harrisburg, PA 17101

dstares@pa.gov

Date:

SEAN L. ROBBINS

Assistant Counsel

PA Department of Environmental Protection

Northeast Regional Office

2 Public Square

Wilkes-Barre, PA 18701-1915

serobbins@pa.gov

FOR DEFENDANT AMERICAN ZINC RECYCLING CORP.:

Date

Gary R. Whitaker

Serior Vice President, General Counsel and

Secretary

American Zinc Recycling Corp.

3000 GSK Drive, Suite 201

Moon Township, PA 15108

(724) 773-2270

gwhitaker@azr.com